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Financial Highlights
FmE

2009 2008 %
—EERE —EENF Increase/
US$'million US$'+rgi|IicK1 (\Decreas\e]
ER-EPH BEXET #CRl)
Operating Results KRR
Revenue W zs 195.8 289.7 (32.4)
EBITDA FRAMSEXH ~ B - TER N
BEIH AT A 5.6 (4.2) N/AT i R
Operating profit/(loss) before BrEHE R RBES HAT
restructuring costs and impairment IR (EE)
charges 4.7 (7.1) N/AT 3@ A
Loss for the year FEEE (12.3) (20.4) (39.7)
Financial Position B S AR,
Total assets BERE 79.7 103.6 (23.1)
Cash reserves BL 23.7 16.8 41.1
Net assets BEFE 39.0 52.5 (25.7)
Financial Ratio BA 7 b &
Current ratio (Times) TENEE R (%) 1.3 1.1 18.2
Gearing ratio (%) BERBELR (%) - 2.5% N/ANE A
Dividends AR E
Interim dividend per share (HK cents) &R&REIIE S GBAL) - - N/AZ i
Final dividend per share (HK cents) FIRREARR S (FBL) 2.2 - N/AZ 3 A
Full year dividend per share (HK cents) S ZFAR S (BL) 2.2 = N/A3E A
Breakdown of Breakdown of
Revenue by Nature Shipment Value by Market
BEBRMEEE S 2 W EmiGEozTEEHE
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FEEHE g
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DESIGN THE MARKET
RIS

To harness the creativity and expertise of all our people
to deliver the best products to our customers in the
right quality at the right time.

EAAEEEEBETITNAENMBEENE @ REFPEXK
IR ER AR N HENEmR ©

/\

nited Kingdo
HE

a

Portuga

wWET

Germany

France =
" f!“ Shanghai
=wl urkey anghai |
BARF TEk a

A
Pakistan =)

Bangladesh Shenzhen

E?Jl]ﬁf... e
Taiwan
s b ‘L
i)
Thailand _.-"'. mbodia ﬁbgﬂnes
FH e JEEE
ysia
hi o E
.l:l Indonesia

Efe

Australia
outh Africa (Cape Town) BN

FAZE(FIE )




Canada (Toronto)

meEx (3Hh%) o
_,.". New vork 4] it}
Fort Worth/Dallas fiie) ¥North Carolina
REBHT R /SE AT EREKA
Miami
B

» e

Linmark office coverage and sourcing countries

MEREEBEHERRBER

Customer base

BFMHE



e

Branding is the ultimate connection
between product and the consumer,

and it is all about passion...
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THE HEART OF BRANDING
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Years ago, retailers were competing on price. Then they added quality to

it. Today it is still about price and quality, but most importantly it is about
Branding and Design as it is the only thing that differentiates one product
from another in the market place. Basics at the lowest price do not sell
anymore, but fashion and design are what drag customers in the stores and
generate traffic.
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Design is everywhere. People do not go to
restaurants anymore exclusively for the food....they

also go for the interior decoration, the atmosphere
and the design of the food on their plate. | guess
it's called taste...
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Linmark Group Limited

Chairman's Statement
FEHRESE

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board"),
| present the results of Linmark Group Limited
("Company", together with its subsidiaries, the
"Group" or "Linmark") for the year ended 30
April 2009.

Like the majority of the corporations in our
industry, Linmark and its customers have
suffered from this unprecedented economic
downturn. While the negative impact of the
crisis was mild in the first half of the year with
a relatively marginal drop in shipment value,
it was more severe during the second half
resulting in our fiscal year ending with a wider
negative variance.

Our consumer electronics division in the
United Kingdom (“UK") was seriously affected
by fluctuation of the Sterling aggravated by
consumers reducing spending on high-value
goods and mass distributors drastically reducing
order volume.

Despite the write off of the remaining value
of the patents and trademarks held by Dowry
Peacock Group Limited ("Dowry Peacock”) in the
early part of the year, we managed to reduce
losses of the Group by more than half thanks
to rationalization initiatives undertaken by the
management.

Our efforts in the past months have been
focused on streamlining our operations, further
reducing expenses and making a better use
of markets that are more competitive with a
view to better service our customers. While
price competitiveness remains a key factor,
customers are requesting more and more
value-added services, and in particular design
and development. Consumers with a reduced
purchasing power are getting more selective
and demanding and are now focusing more on
merchandise with a better appeal. Basics are
not selling anymore and retailers need great
and better designed merchandise to increase
traffic and sales. We have seen a surge in
interest from our customers in our own designs
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and developments and we are committed to
delivering more fashion and products with a
point of view and a point of differentiation in
future.

2009 will remain very difficult for our core
customers and we expect order volumes to
still decrease slightly in the next few months.
However, with new customers secured and new
businesses added to our portfolio in the past
year, we see the Group maintaining its market
share next year. We will continue to explore new
business opportunities riding on the trend of
more retailers, brands and wholesalers changing
their sourcing strategy - engaging supply chain
specialists in Asia like Linmark as sourcing
partners. In addition, our priority in the coming
year will be to provide excellent customer
service and assuring customer satisfaction,
which is critical in helping the Group counter
the difficult economic environment.

On 12 January 2009, the Group welcomed to
the family, Mr. Michel BOURLON as its chief
executive officer, who has 25 years of senior
management experience in the sourcing
industry.

In closing, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to fellow members of the Board for
their guidance and continuous support and to
shareholders for their unwavering trust in the
Group. My thanks also go to the management
team and all staff for their contribution to the
success of the Group.

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer
THRIABES

Business Review

Overview

For the year ended 30 April 2009, shipment value amounted to approximately US$496.9 million
(equivalent to HK$3,875.8 million), down by approximately 15.9% as compared to approximately
US$590.7 million (equivalent to HK$4,607.5 million) last year. Revenue decreased by approximately
32.4% to approximately US$195.8 million (equivalent to HK$1,527.2 million), mainly attributable to
the drop in sales from the electronics division operated by Dowry Peacock in the UK.

The Group reported a loss after tax of approximately US$12.3 million (equivalent to HK$95.9 million)
for the year ended 30 April 2009, against a loss of approximately US$20.4 million (equivalent to
HK$159.1 million) last year. The loss for the year under review was attributable to non-cash items of
approximately US$13.1 million (equivalent to HK$102.2 million), representing the impairment losses
on goodwill, patents and trademarks. The impairment losses last year were approximately US$13.3
million (equivalent to HK$103.7 million). Excluding the non-cash items, the Group's adjusted profit
would be approximately US$0.8 million (equivalent to HK$6.2 million) for the year under review.

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 30 April 2009 fell by approximately 16.7%
to approximately US$33.2 million (equivalent to HK$259.0 million) as compared with last year.

8 Linmark Group Limited annual report 2009
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer

THHERBREE

= e — — e—
Segmental Analysis DESN
The table below shows the shipment value to different markets during the TR EIBEEE R T EA(ESLEREEHN N

year under review as compared to amounts in the previous year: BEAAELNLER
Shipment value
For the year ended 30 April
NHESHE
BENA=1THLEE
2009 2008
—EBhE —TT)N\F
US$'million US$'million
BEER AEET
North America JEEM 256.6 218.0
Europe BOM 139.5 218.7
Others At 100.8 154.0
Total At 496.9 590.7
During the year under review, shipment to North America increased by REIEFE @ AIEMNZHEE EAL1770EL

approximately 17.7% to approximately US$256.6 million (equivalent to
HK$2,001.5 million), the increase in shipment was mainly attributable
to orders from new customers and stronger demand of certain existing
customers. North America is at present the largest market of the Group,
contributing approximately 51.6% of the Group's total shipment value.

Shipment to Europe decreased by 36.2% to approximately US$139.5 million
(equivalent to HK$1,088.1 million) which was largely from the drop in sales
of the electronics division in the UK. Shipment to Europe now accounts for
approximately 28.1% of the Group's total shipment value.

Shipment grouped under "Others", comprising mainly shipments to the
southern hemisphere, amounted to approximately US$100.8 million
(equivalent to HK$786.2 million). The drop was mainly due to a decrease
in inspection business.

Financial Review

The Group's financial position remains healthy with cash and cash
equivalents of approximately US$23.7 million (equivalent to HK$184.9
million) as at 30 April 2009. In addition, the Group has total banking
facilities of approximately US$33.0 million (equivalent to HK$257.4 million)
including borrowing facilities of approximately US$0.4 million (equivalent
to HK$3.1 million) as at 30 April 2009.

10 Linmark Group Limited annual report 2009
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The Group has a current ratio of 1.3 and a gearing ratio of zero, based on
no interest-bearing bank borrowings and total equity of approximately
US$39.0 million (equivalent to HK$304.2 million) as at 30 April 2009.
There has not been any material change in the Group's borrowings since
30 April 2009.

Trade receivables decreased from approximately US$21.4 million (equivalent
to HK$166.9 million) as at 30 April 2008 to approximately US$18.2
million (equivalent to HK$142.0 million) as at 30 April 2009. Net trade
receivables net of impairment aged over 90 days, which amounted to
approximately US$6.8 million (equivalent to HK$53.0 million), are being
carefully monitored by management.

The Group's net asset value as at 30 April 2009 was approximately US$39.0
million (equivalent to HK$304.2 million).

The Group had no material contingent liability as at 30 April 2009 and there
has been no material change since then.

The majority of the Group's transactions during the year under review were
denominated in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Sterling. To minimise
exchange risks, sales and purchases are generally transacted in the same
currency.
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Report of the Chief Executive Officer
THERBREE

Remuneration Policy and Staff Development Scheme

As at 30 April 2009, the Group had 587 staff. The total staff costs
for the year under review amounted to approximately US$21.3 million
(equivalent to HK$166.1 million) (2008: US$24.3 million (equivalent to
HK$189.5 million)). The Group offers competitive remuneration schemes
to its employees based on industry practices, individual and the Group's
performance. In addition, share options and discretionary bonuses are also
granted to eligible staff based on both the Group's as well as individual
performance.

Prospects

The recent financial turmoil has had a serious impact on some of our
customers, especially those in the United States of America, Canada and
Europe. Although some retailers we work with recorded improvement
earlier in the year, the phenomenon was not prevalent. Retailers continue
to keep inventories at the lowest possible level and start replenishing only
when a sustained growth in sales is registered, i.e. continuous comparable
increases over a few months.

On the positive side, the lacklustre market environment has forced some
retailers, brands and wholesalers to reconsider their sourcing strategy and
some of them decided to close their sourcing operations in Asia to eliminate
fixed costs and overheads and turned to engaging the service of supply
chain specialists like Linmark. In addition, to improve their competitiveness
and margins, many retailers and wholesalers are expected to import more
goods directly instead of through domestic vendors and importers.

These trends have opened to the Group opportunities to acquire new
customers. Securing new customers and developing new businesses will
be one of the key focuses of the Group in the coming year.

Linmark signed licensing agreements with reputable brands in the first
quarter of 2009 and related marketing campaigns were kicked off towards
the end of the fiscal year. We expect a gradual increase in sales from these
licensed products in the next two years.

12 Linmark Group Limited annual report 2009
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The management will also put a stronger focus on customer service and
value-added services to increase sales and maximise business opportunities
with existing customers. An internal reorganization has resulted in increased
focus on more competitive sourcing in order to better anticipate and meet
customer expectations.

As there are no clear signs currently that economies are on the sure path of
recovery, the Group will keep working on maximising operational efficiency
and cost control in the next 12 months.

The performance of the Dowry Peacock Group was significantly impacted
by the economic crisis and the particularly difficult environment of the
retailing of electronic products in the UK. After thoughtful consideration
and given the severity of its financial situation, it was decided to disengage
from this business and Linmark Electronics Limited, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Dowry Peacock, was put into administration in the UK on 28
July 2009 (see Note 43 to the financial statements of this annual report
for details), just before the present financial report was put to press. This
will enable the Group to refocus its full attention and energy on its core
business going forward.

Despite the immense pressure from the challenging market, the Group has
insisted on delivering value-added and quality customer service to enhance
customer satisfaction. These efforts are instrumental to helping the Group
retain customers and win new businesses when the market revives. Looking
forward, the management remains optimistic about the Group's long-term
prospect.

Michel BOURLON
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERSREERBENR
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Executive directors

Mr. WANG Lu Yen, aged 55, is an executive director and the chairman of the Company and
is presently responsible for the Group's corporate and strategy planning. He was appointed
the acting chief executive officer of the Company for the period from August 2008 to
January 2009. Mr. Wang joined the Group in 1998. He is a co-founder, an executive director
and chairman of Roly International Holdings Ltd. ("Roly International”), the indirect holding
company of the Company which was listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited from 1996 to 2007, since 2000. Mr. Wang was the chairman and an executive
director of Byford International Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Growth
Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited ("Stock Exchange”) from
2004 to 2007.

Mr. Wang has over 25 years of experience in the trading and distribution business. He
was awarded Outstanding Businessman by Taiwan's Ministry of Economic Affairs in 1985.
Mr. Wang is a member of the China Overseas Friendship Association, a vice-chairman of
China Association for Middle and Small Commercial Enterprises, the vice-chairman of
China Committee of Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce, a member of Garment
Advisory Committee of Hong Kong Trade Development Council, a member of the Hong Kong
Policy Research Institute Limited, a founder and a director of the Taiwan Design Center,
the chairman of the Soochow Management Academic Foundation of Soochow University,
the honorary chairman of Taiwan Business Association (Hong Kong) Limited, a director of
International Chamber of Commerce - Hong Kong, China, a member of Shanghai Chinese
Overseas Friendship Association and a member of The Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Central Policy Unit Pan-Pearl River Delta Panel. Mr. Wang holds a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from Soochow University, Taiwan and an EMBA
degree from Guanghua School of Management, Peking University, the People's Republic
of China ("PRC"). Mr. Wang received the Directors of The Year Awards 2005 hosted by The
Hong Kong Institute of Directors.

Mr. Michel BOURLON, aged 50, has been an executive director and the chief executive
officer of the Company since 12 January 2009. Mr. Bourlon has 25 years of senior
management experience in the sourcing industry. His sector experience includes sourcing
both apparel and hardgoods throughout the Asia Pacific region for global retailers. From
March 2004 to January 2009, he was executive vice president of Charming Shoppes Inc.,
a specialty apparel retailer in the United States of America (“US"), overseeing the sourcing
division. Prior to that, he was the managing director of the regional buying office in Asia
of Eddie Bauer Inc. (US) from 1997 to 2004 and vice president of sourcing of Otto Versand
Gmbh (Germany) from 1992 to 1997. He holds a Master's degree in Economics and Foreign
Languages Applied to International Trade from the University of Valenciennes and Hainaut
Cambresis in France.

Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng, aged 58, has been an executive director of the Company since 2002.
He has also been an executive director and the chief financial officer of Roly International
since 1995. Currently, Mr. Khoo is responsible for the Group's corporate and financial
matters. He has extensive experience in corporate finance and financial management
industry. Mr. Khoo holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Southern
Methodist University, Dallas, Texas, the US. He qualified as a Certified Public Accountant in
the US and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA").
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Non-executive directors

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, aged 51, is a non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Wong
has been an independent non-executive director of the Company since it was listed in
2002 and was redesignated as an executive director of the Company in 2005 and then
further redesignated as a non-executive director of the Company in 2007. Mr. Wong
has been the chief financial officer and senior vice president of Lenovo Group Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since July 2007. He is also an
independent non-executive director of .T Limited and China Unicom Limited and a non-
executive director of Kingsoft Corporation Limited, all of which are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Wong was an executive director and chief executive officer
of Roly International from 2005 to 2007. He was previously an investment banker with
over 16 years of experience in investment banking business in Greater China. Mr. Wong
is a chartered accountant of the UK and an associate member of the HKICPA. He holds a
Bachelor's degree of Science (with Honours) in Management Sciences from The Victoria
University of Manchester, the UK.

Mr. Mark HSU, aged 39, has been a non-executive director of the Company since January
2008. He is a managing director of H&Q Asia Pacific ("H&Q") and has been with the firm
since 2001. H&Q manages Asia Pacific Growth Fund V, LP., a substantial shareholder
of the Company. He has also been a director of Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited and Rl
Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited, both of which are intermediate holding companies
of the Company, since November 2007. Before joining H&Q, he was a director of business
development for Sina.com, a company listed on NASDAQ, focusing on technology, media and
branded consumer partnerships. From 1999 to 2001, Mr. Hsu was an attorney with Simpson
Thacher & Bartlett where he engaged in securities and merger and acquisition transactions
in the private equity industry, principally working with The Blackstone Group.

Mr. Hsu holds a Bachelor of Arts degree from the University of California at Los Angeles and
a Juris Doctorate degree from Columbia University, the US. Mr. Hsu has served on the boards
of various corporations and business organisations, including GRIC Communications, Inc.
(now known as GoRemote Internet Communications, Inc., a company previously listed on
the NASDAQ) during the period from 2002 to 2003, The Churchill Club (www.churchillclub.
org) and Asia America MultiTechnology Association (www.aamasv.com) both for the period
from 2001 to 2005.
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Independent non-executive directors

Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang, aged 48, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 2002. Mr. Wang is also the chief executive officer of GigaMedia
Limited, a NASDAQ listed online entertainment and game provider. Previously, Mr. Wang
was a co-founder and executive director of KGI Asia Limited, the investment banking arm
of the Koos Group of Taiwan. Mr. Wang also serves on the board of directors of several
finance and technology companies in the region and was previously a member of the board
of Softbank Investment International (Strategic) Limited (now known as China Renji Medical
Group Limited), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Wang received his Juris Doctorate degree from Yale Law School and practised corporate
and securities law in Hong Kong and New York. He also holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
from the University of California at Los Angeles, the US.

Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius, aged 61, has been the independent non-executive director of
the Company since 2005. Mr. Tse is a fellow of The Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, and the HKICPA. Mr. Tse is a past president of the HKICPA. He joined
KPMG in 1976, became a partner in 1984 and retired in March 2003. Mr. Tse was a non-
executive chairman of KPMG's operations in the PRC and a member of the KPMG China
advisory board from 1997 to 2000. Mr. Tse is currently an independent non-executive
director of Wing Hang Bank, Limited, CNOOC Limited, China Telecom Corporation Limited,
China Construction Bank Corporation, Sinofert Holdings Limited and SJM Holdings Limited,
all listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tse is also the chairman of the
International Advisory Council of the People's Municipal Government of Wuhan. Mr. Tse
holds a Bachelor of Social Sciences degree from The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS, aged 62, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since May 2008. He became the chief executive officer of Freemans
Grattan Holdings of Otto Group in July 2008. From 1994 to 2007, he was managing director
of Otto International Asia and was responsible for all of its sourcing offices and trading
companies in the Asia Pacific region. Prior to that, he worked his way through different
aspects of the garment industry for 22 years in South Africa. Having been managing
director for the manufacturing subsidiary of a major retailer in South Africa and a board
member of such retailer for 4 years, he joined a large American apparel manufacturer in
Hong Kong in 1992. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Garment Engineering received from a
college in Netherlands.
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Senior management

Mr. WONG Hing Lin, Dennis, aged 39, has been the chief financial officer of the Group
since January 2006 and oversees the finance, shipping, human resources and investor
relations functions of the Group. Prior to that, Mr. Wong was the head of corporate
development department of Roly International primarily responsible for Roly International
and the Group's corporate development, mergers and acquisitions and investor relations
activities. Before joining Roly International in 2000, he had worked at several major
international financial institutions where he gained extensive experience in finance and
banking. He holds a Master of Business Administration degree in Finance from Boston
University, the US, and a Bachelor of Science degree from the University of British Columbia,
Canada.

Mr. Jong LEE, aged 41, has been the chief development and information officer of the Group
since May 2009 and is responsible for corporate and business development; information
systems and services and the Group's electronics, licensing and premiums businesses.
Before that, he served the Group as its chief operating officer. Prior to joining the Group
in September 2008, he co-founded and served as managing partner of the Sugarloaf Group,
a regional private equity, management and advisory firm, from September 2004 to August
2008. Prior to that, he was a vice president with H&Q investing in and managing portfolio
companies in China, Japan, Korea and the US from May 2001 to August 2004. Prior to 2001,
he was a technology investment banker with UBS and an attorney with Simpson Thacher
& Bartlett in New York. He has 15 years of substantive experience in principal investment,
executive management, investment banking, and corporate law in the US, Japan, South
Korea and Greater China in the services, industrial, real-estate, technology and media
sectors. He received a Juris Doctorate degree from Columbia University and Bachelor of Arts
and Bachelor of Applied Science degrees from the University of Pennsylvania, the US.

Mr. Arthur Etienne Marie PRUIJT, aged 42, has been the senior vice president of group
operations since July 2007. Before that, Mr. Pruijt served the Group as the general manager
of the offices in Thailand and Bangladesh and as the general manager of the Group's
European accounts. Prior to joining the Group, he worked as an account manager for a
Dutch buying agency in Indonesia from 1993 to 1997 and as general manager for an Italian
buying agency from 1997 to 2005. Mr. Pruijt has extensive experience in merchandising
and quality control as well as general management including financing, budgeting and
human resources.

Company secretary

Ms. CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda, aged 41, is the company secretary of the Company and Roly
International. Ms. Cheung joined a subsidiary of Roly International in 1997 as an assistant
company secretary. She has over 15 years of company secretarial experience gained in listed
companies. Ms. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accountancy and is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators, the UK.
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The Company has adopted most of the Code Provisions (“Code Provisions")
as stated in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (“CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended, as the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (“Code") of the Company and the Board
is committed to complying with the Code to the extent that the directors
consider it is applicable to the Company and practical.

The corporate governance principles of the Group emphasize an effective
Board, sound internal controls, appropriate independence policy, and
transparency and accountability to all shareholders of the Company.

During the year under review, the Company fully complied with the Code
Provisions save for the modifications made to Code Provision B.1.3 and
the deviation from Code Provision A.2.1 when the chairman also took the
role of acting chief executive officer during a transitional period, details
of which are explained below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

The Board

Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company's business is vested in the Board,
which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company
by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors should make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company.

The functions of the Board are carried out either directly or through Board
committees. To ensure the Board is in a position to exercise its powers in
an informed manner, all members of the Board have full and timely access
to all relevant information and may take independent professional advice
if necessary.

The Board has the full support of the chief executive officer and senior
management to discharge its responsibilities.

Appropriate insurance cover for directors' and officers' liabilities in respect
of legal actions against the directors and officers of the Company and
its subsidiaries arising out of corporate activities of the Group has been
arranged by the Company.
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Composition

The composition of the Board reflects the necessary balance of skills EFEMAEKBRARBERNEE KRB LRKMH
and experience desirable for effective leadership of the Company and & ZHI5 KRR °

independence in decision making.

The Board currently comprises eight directors in total, with three executive ~EFE B Al G HAN\LERHEK @ BE=MHTE
directors, two non-executive directors and three independent non-executive 5~ IAZERITEFE R =B IERTEER - AT
directors. The directors of the Company during the year under review and ~ AARFREBEFEIEZEARSEBHIENES :
up to the date of this report were as follows:

Name of Directors

Exps

Positions

Bz

WANG Lu Yen

EaredE

Michel BOURLON

Peter Loris SOLOMON

KHOO Kim Cheng

R £ 2R

WONG Wai Ming
=IZH

Mark HSU
e

WANG Arthur Minshiang

THHE

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
HELT

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

KWOK Tai Ki
FBZAH

Chairman and executive director (appointed acting chief executive officer for the period
from 1 August 2008 to 12 January 2009)

FRRNTEE (RZZEZN\FNA-RAZEZETENF-A+ A LHAHEZEAR
BITAREL)

Chief executive officer and executive director (appointed with effect from 12 January 2009)

THARRRATES (EEH_ZTNF-ATZHEER)

Chief executive officer and executive director (resigned with effect from 1 August 2008)

TRAREFRATES (BHEH T N\FNAA-BBER)

Executive director
HITES
Non-executive director

FHMTES

Non-executive director

FHITES

Independent non-executive director

BIUFATES

Independent non-executive director

BYERITES

Independent non-executive director (appointed with effect from 5 May 2008)
BYFNTES (RER_SZT/N\FHARAEER)

Independent non-executive director (resigned with effect from 5 May 2008)

BUFNTES (BIEE-ST/\EFRARARER
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The list of directors by category is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules
from time to time. None of the members of the Board is related to one
another.

During the year ended 30 April 2009, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors with at least one independent
non-executive director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on the contents of such confirmation, the
Company still considers all of the independent non-executive directors to
be independent.

The independent non-executive directors bring a wide range of business
and financial expertise, experiences and independent judgement to the
Board. Through active participation in Board meetings, taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflict of interests and serving on
Board committees, all independent non-executive directors make various
contributions to the effective direction of the Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal of directors

The Board as a whole is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors.

The Board reviews its own structure, size and composition regularly to
ensure that it has a balance of expertise, skills and experience appropriate
to the requirements of the business of the Company.

Where vacancies on the Board exist, the Board will carry out the selection
process by making reference to the skills, experience, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, the Company's needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and requlations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged to assist
in the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

The appointment of Mr. Michel BOURLON as chief executive officer
and executive director which became effective on 12 January 2009 was
approved by unanimous consent of members of the Board on 3 November
2008.
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Each of Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Mr. KHOO Kim Cheng, being an executive
director, has entered into a service contract with the Company with an
initial term of three years from May 2002 and has continued thereafter
until terminated by either party by not less than six months' notice in
writing. Mr. Michel BOURLON and the Company have entered into an
employment agreement pursuant to which Mr. Bourlon has been appointed
as chief executive officer and executive director of the Company for an
initial term of three years commencing from 12 January 2009. Such term
will be renewed automatically for one year on each anniversary of the third
anniversary date (i.e. 12 January 2012) of the hire date until terminated
by either party by serving at least 60 days' notice (prior to the date of
automatic renewal for a further one year term) or by 12 months' notice or
making payment in lieu (on other occasions).

Each of the two non-executive directors, namely Mr. WONG Wai Ming
and Mr. Mark HSU, has been appointed for a term of two years under
a letter of appointment. The appointment of Mr. WONG Wai Ming will
continue thereafter until terminated by either party by serving at least
one month's notice in writing. Terms of the appointment of Mr. Mark HSU
will be renewed for a further two years upon expiry and his appointment
may be terminated by either party by serving not less than one month's
notice in writing.

Each of the three independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. WANG
Arthur Minshiang, Mr. TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius and Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert
TULLENERS, has first been appointed for a term of two years under a letter
of appointment. Such term has been/will be renewed for a further two
years upon expiry. The appointments may be terminated by the independent
non-executive directors by serving not less than one month's notice in

writing.

The Company's bye-laws provide that all directors are subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and any new director appointed
by the Board to fill a causal vacancy shall be subject to re-election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.

The Company's bye-laws also allow for removal of a director by an ordinary
resolution.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company's circular to be despatched to shareholders of the Company
on or about 12 August 2009 will contain detailed information of the
directors standing for re-election.
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Training for directors

Each newly appointed director has received comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure
that he has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of
the Group and that he is fully aware of his responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing briefing and
professional development to directors whenever necessary.

Board meetings

Number of meetings and directors' attendance

Reqular Board meetings are held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals primarily for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance, and considering and approving the overall
strategies, policies and budgets of the Group.

During the year ended 30 April 2009, the Board met eight times for
considering and approving the budgets of the Group for the years ended
30 April 2009 and 30 April 2010, the audited final results for the year
ended 30 April 2008, unaudited results for the three months ended 31 July
2008, unaudited interim results for the six months ended 31 October 2008,
unaudited results for the nine months ended 31 January 2009, change of
independent non-executive director, change of the chief executive officer
and executive director and reviewing business strategy.
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The individual attendance record of each director at the meetings of the

Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, annual general meeting

and special general meeting during the year ended 30 April 2009 is set

out below:
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€ EZZEE
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REAREGZZBEALFEREIMT

Attendance/Number of Meetings

HER EERE
Audit Remuneration Annual Special
Board Committee Committee general general
Name of Directors meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
= pl IR 3R IR R
EEHR BEEg ERZEES Z88 BEXEg HRlRE
Executive directors
HITES
WANG Lu Yen 8/8 N/A 11 11 11
F1%E TiEH
Michel BOURLON (Note 1) 2[2 N/A N/A N/A N/A
(BfFEE) TiEA NEA NEA NiE A
KHOO Kim Cheng 8/8 *3/3 *1/1 1/1 11
Ef 885N
Peter Loris SOLOMON (Note 2) 3/3 11 N/A N/A N/A
(BFF5E2) TEH TEH NiEA
Non-executive directors
FHTES
WONG Wai Ming 6/8 N/A N/A 0/1 o1
=HIZH TiEH TEH
Mark HSU 8/8 N/A N/A 0/1 0/1
Exzes! i A NiE A
Independent non-executive directors
BYFHTES
WANG Arthur Minshiang 7/8 3/3 11 0/1 0/1
E &
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius 8/8 3/3 11 11 11
MENT
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS (Note 3) 7/8 3/3 N/A 0/1 0/1
(M47E3) N B
KWOK Tai Ki (Note 4) 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
B (FiEa) N3 A N3 A iE A T iE A
Number of meetings held 8 3 1 1 1
RITEBRE
Notes: Bt &

1.

Mr. Michel BOURLON was appointed an executive director, chief executive officer and
a member of each of the Executive Committee, Investment Committee and Strategy
Committee of the Board with effect from 12 January 2009.

Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON resigned as an executive director and chief executive officer and
ceased to act as a member of each of the Executive Committee, Investment Committee
and Strategy Committee of the Board with effect from 1 August 2008.

Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS was appointed an independent non-executive director
and a member of the Audit Committee of the Board with effect from 5 May 2008.
Mr. KWOK Tai Ki resigned as an independent non-executive director and ceased to act as

a member of the Audit Committee of the Board with effect from 5 May 2008.

The directors are not members of the committee at the relevant time but attended the
meetings by invitation.
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In place of physical meetings, the Board and Board committees also
circulate written resolutions for approval by the relevant members of the
Board and Board committees.

Practices and conduct of meetings
Meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are made available
to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least
14 days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are generally sent to all directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors apprised
of the latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director also
have separate and independent access to the senior management whenever
necessary.

The chief executive officer, chief financial officer (who heads a team of
professional staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function) and company secretary of the Company attend all reqular Board
meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee meetings
to advise on business developments, financial and accounting matters,
statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of
the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft and final versions
of minutes of Board meetings are normally sent to directors for their
comments and records respectively, in both cases within a reasonable time
after each meeting is held.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction, which
involves a conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
Board meeting. The Company's bye-laws also contain provisions requiring
directors to abstain from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at
meetings for approving transactions in which such directors or any of their
associates have a material interest.

24 Linmark Group Limited annual report 2009

EEghBEEZEeNEHMEMABREARTT

FaE NSREZeREZZESFHEKEMNH
# -
Eﬂ%ﬁ%ﬁ&j’ﬁl/

FRNKEEREEBREHE LR ERIIIEAREIA
1,\§$%<55 g

ErgTHednasEgRBTaE 4
2REZVL - EREMESTER i%@@a i
& BN EEHRRE A -

EEeXHERMEEE  TERASHERN—K
REEFENEECERRITHNEL =AML ES

EEL BEEFRTRAA RPN REKH
AR - EmAEL MIERRE « 1o ESER
EEEEATENBRTHAAENREBRSRE
BEERE -

ARBTHRAEE - MRS (FREES RMBH
SEXETEBNHEEA) RARWEDGHERE

SEHER WEFE KETSHFEEME
FENZREEER  MARREBKER MBKELE
%‘+$E OREBTEH AREARAREMEATE

*}E{/\ =N

Sl TED
B B % K/\El

O BRI FR K B
LSS IR TS
x 1& 7 T Rl

REAMERERRRREMBE
ERNEALE EESEENIR
RER—BREEHEZR/RE—BRE
B RHESREEER MK
SEREZA -

RERITZEFEER  BEERRAEF S LA
BHARZENEARSGEHEETEREABHANE
EEHRLERNEE - ARAMARAATEE
BXHRE MEBESHETMBBALIRR S
BEEEARNE  FHEFRANERR - BTBFA
HAERXZHGHAEEABZA

T



Chairman and chief executive officer

Apart from the deviation from Code Provision A.2.1 when the chairman also
took the role of acting chief executive officer during a transitional period of
searching for the replacement of the chief executive officer from 1 August
2008 to 12 January 2009, the role of the chairman is separate from that of
the chief executive officer of the Group. Currently, the two positions are
held by Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Mr. Michel BOURLON (who are not related to
each other) respectively. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined
and set out in writing, details of which are stated below.

The chairman's principal role is to provide leadership for the Board, in
particular, the Executive Committee, on corporate and strategic planning and
ensure proper proceedings of the Board and the Executive Committee.

Supported by the executive directors and the senior management, the chief
executive officer's principal role is to manage and operate the Group's
day-to-day business, including the implementation of major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board.

Board committees

The Board has established five committees, namely, the Executive Committee,
Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Investment Committee and
Strategy Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company's
affairs.

Terms of reference of all Board committees are available on the Company's
website at www.linmark.com for reference.

Current structure of the Board

Executive Committee
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The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company's
expenses.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee consists of all the executive directors as
follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)
Michel BOURLON (chief executive officer)
(appointed member of the committee with effect from 12 January 2009)
KHOO Kim Cheng
Peter Loris SOLOMON (ceased to act as member of the committee with
effect from 1 August 2008)

The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and operation
functions of the Group to the Executive Committee save to the extent that
certain powers and authorities are reserved to the other Board committees
or the full Board. The powers and authorities reserved to the full Board
include the following but are not limited to:

(@) matters involving a conflict of interest for a substantial shareholder
and/or a director;

(b) making decisions on whether or not to declare, recommend or pay
dividend;

(c) approving (i) the publication of preliminary announcement of the
profits or losses in respect of annual results or interim results and
(ii) the related financial statements and/or accounts;

(d) approving any proposed change in the capital structure, including any
redemption of its securities listed on the Stock Exchange;

(e) approving any decision to change the general character or nature of
the business of the Company;

(f) approving any discloseable transaction, major transaction, very
substantial acquisition or connected transaction within the meaning
of Chapters 14 and 14A of the Listing Rules;

() matters specifically set out in the Listing Rules which require an
approval at a full board meeting; and

(h) any regulations or resolutions or restrictions that may be imposed
upon the committees by the Board from time to time.
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The authorities reserved to the Remuneration Committee are more
particularly discussed below.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive directors
as follows:

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (chairman of the committee)

WANG Arthur Minshiang

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS (appointed member of the committee
with effect from 5 May 2008)

KWOK Tai Ki (ceased to act as member of the committee with effect from
5 May 2008)

None of the members of the Audit Committee is a former partner of the
Company's existing external auditors.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the Company's
annual reports and accounts, interim reports and results announcements
and to provide advice and comments thereon to the directors. The
members meet regularly with the internal auditor, external auditors and
the Company's senior management for the review and supervision of
the Company's financial reporting and internal control procedures. The
Audit Committee is also responsible for monitoring integrity of financial
statements of the Company and the Company's annual reports and
accounts and interim reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held three meetings
to:

(@) review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the qualified accountant (where
applicable under the Listing Rules) and the chief financial officer (who
heads a team of professional staff responsible for the accounting and
financial reporting function), internal auditor or external auditors
before submission to the Board;

(b) review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to the
work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and change of external auditors proposed by
management; and

(c) review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company's financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management
system and associated procedures.
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The Audit Committee also reviewed the terms and conditions of connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions of the Company which
took place during the year under review.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 30 April 2009 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on
the selection, appointment and resignation of the external auditors during
the year under review.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, the majority of
which are independent non-executive directors, as follows:

WANG Arthur Minshiang (chairman of the committee)
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius
WANG Lu Yen

The primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and structure
and remuneration packages of the directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and structure to ensure
that no director or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/
her own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by reference
to the performance of the individual and the Company as well as market
practice and conditions. The Remuneration Committee shall consult the
chairman and/or the chief executive officer of the Company about their
recommendations on remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
packages.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were in compliance
with the Code Provisions except that Code Provisions B.1.3(a) and B.1.3(b)
have been combined and modified such that the Remuneration Committee
has the power to do such things and to approve all matters in relation to
compensation regarding all the directors and senior management of the
Group in accordance with the terms and conditions of their respective
agreement/contract with the Company, or as the case may be, the relevant
subsidiary of the Company. In addition, the Remuneration Committee is
also delegated with the authority to exercise all the powers of the Board
in relation to the share option scheme of the Company.
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Management considers that the Remuneration Committee can better serve
its functions under the modified terms (“Modified Terms") of reference of
the Remuneration Committee set out above as its duties under the Modified
Terms are more extensive and onerous than those prescribed in the Code
Provisions. The Company therefore proposes that the Remuneration
Committee shall continue to abide by the provisions of the Modified
Terms in the future. Management will review the terms regularly and make
appropriate changes if necessary.

On 18 September 2008, a meeting of the Remuneration Committee
was held to review and approve the remuneration packages of senior
management. During the year under review, by passing written resolutions,
the Remuneration Committee considered and approved the remuneration
package (including share options) of the chief executive officer and
executive director and remuneration of independent non-executive directors
upon renewal of the letters of appointment.

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee comprises two executive directors and a

non-executive director as follows:

KHOO Kim Cheng (chairman of the committee)

Michel BOURLON (appointed member of the committee with effect from
12 January 2009)

Mark HSU

Peter Loris SOLOMON (ceased to act as member of the committee with
effect from 1 August 2008)

The primary duties of the Investment Committee are to review or recommend
to the Board the investment transactions of the Group.

The main duties of the Investment Committee include the following:

(a) to review, recommend and approve matters relating to mergers and
acquisitions, disposal and formation of any entities and joint ventures
which would not constitute notifiable transactions under the Listing
Rules;

(b) to review and recommend matters to the Board for approval relating
to mergers and acquisitions, disposal and formation of any entities
and joint ventures which would constitute notifiable transactions
under the Listing Rules; and

(c) to review and recommend capital market activities.
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During the year under review, the Investment Committee considered and
approved the disposal of a subsidiary engaging in non-core business to an
independent third party by passing written resolution. The transaction was
not a notifiable transaction under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

Strategy Committee

The Strategy Committee comprises three executive directors as follows:

WANG Lu Yen (chairman of the committee)

Michel BOURLON (appointed member of the committee with effect from
12 January 2009)

KHOO Kim Cheng

Peter Loris SOLOMON (ceased to act as member of the committee with
effect from 1 August 2008)

The primary duties of the Strategy Committee are to formulate and review
the strategies for the development of the Group and to review and make
recommendations to the Board on corporate strategies for approval and
for subsequent implementation by the chief executive officer and other
executive directors.

During the year under review, the Strategy Committee did not hold any
meeting.

Internal controls

The Board is responsible for maintaining the system of internal controls of
the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. During the year under review,
the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the internal
controls system of the Group, in particular, the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff in respect of the Group's accounting
and financial reporting functions.

In October 2008, the Group engaged an external consultant to conduct
an internal control review of its operations in Shanghai, PRC. Major
audit findings and recommendations were presented at the Audit
Committee meeting in December 2008. The implementation of all agreed
recommendations has been reviewed by the Internal Audit Department
("IAD") and the progress is considered satisfactory.
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In addition, the IAD has been facilitating the management to perform
an annual business risk assessment of the Group to develop a Three-
Year Internal Audit Plan. The assessment involved interviews with senior
management and reviews of relevant documentations. Key business
risks have been identified and prioritized with the management. This
approach is consistent with the “Internal Control and Risk Management -
A Basic Framework" issued by HKICPA.

Based on the risk assessment results, the IAD has been developing the
Three-Year Internal Audit Plan (2009-2012) which covers the key business
risks of the Group's audit universe. The plan will be updated on an annual
basis to reflect the Group's latest risk profile.

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the directors and the directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the
year ended 30 April 2009.

The Company has also established written guidelines on no less exacting
terms than the Model Code ("Employees Written Guidelines") for securities
transactions by relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the Company and
its securities.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by the
relevant employees was noted by the Company.

Responsibilities in respect of the financial
statements and auditors' remuneration

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements
and other publications of the Company and other disclosures required
under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 30 April 2009.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditors' Report" contained in this annual report.
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The remuneration paid to the external auditors of the Company in respect
of audit services and non-audit services for the year ended 30 April 2009
amounted to approximately US$321,400 and US$23,000 respectively. The
non-audit services were mainly related to tax services.

Shareholder rights and investor relations
The Company follows the practices stated in the CG Code regarding
shareholder rights and investor relations.

The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on
resolutions at shareholders' meetings are contained in the Company's bye-
laws. Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules which came into effect
on 1 January 2009, any vote of shareholders at a general meeting must
be taken by poll. Therefore, all the resolutions put to the vote at general
meetings will be taken by way of poll.

After each general meeting, the poll results will be published on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

In view of the requirement of Code Provision E.1.3 which came into effect
on 1 January 2009, the Company will arrange for the notice to shareholders
to be sent in the case of annual general meetings at least 20 clear business
days before the meeting and to be sent at least 10 clear business days in
the case of all other general meetings.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for communication
between the shareholders and the Board. The chairman of the Board as well
as chairman of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee, Investment
Committee and Strategy Committee or in their absence, other members
of the respective committees, and where applicable, the independent
Board committee, are available to answer questions at the shareholders'
meetings.

Separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual directors.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Designated senior management maintains regular
dialogue with institutional investors to keep them abreast of the Company's
developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an informative
and timely manner.

Besides, as to promote effective communication, the Company also
maintains a website at www.linmark.com, where extensive information and
updates on the Company's business developments and operations, corporate
governance practices and other information are posted.

Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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Report fthe Directors
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The directors present their report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 30 April 2009.

Principal activities
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of
its subsidiaries are set out in Note 18 to the financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year under review by
business and geographical segments is set out in Note 4 to the financial
statements.

Results and appropriations
The results of the Group for the year ended 30 April 2009 are set out in
the consolidated income statement on page 54.

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year under review.

Despite the Group's results were seriously affected by the loss-making
operations in the UK, which have since 28 July 2009 ceased to be
consolidated to the Group's results, the Group managed to record an
operating profit before restructuring costs and impairment charges of
approximately US$4.7 million (equivalent to HK$36.7 million) as compared
to an operating loss of approximately US$7.1 million (equivalent to HK$55.4
million) last year. In view of this, the directors recommend the payment of
a final dividend of 2.2 HK cents per share in respect of the year ended 30
April 2009, totalling approximately US$1,891,000. Subject to shareholders'
approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
the final dividend will be paid in cash on or about 17 September 2009
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 11 September 2009.

Ultimate holding company

During the year under review, the directors regard Roly International as
a controlling shareholder of the Company and Megastar Holdings Limited
("Megastar”) as the ultimate holding company of the Company. The
ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a director of
the Company.

As at 30 April 2009, Roly International, directly and indirectly, held
approximately 71.31% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of movements in the Group's property, plant and equipment during
the year under review are set out in Note 15 to the financial statements.

Share capital
Details of the share capital of the Company during the year under review
are set out in Note 32 to the financial statements.
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Report of the Directors
EExemss

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year under review are
set out in Note 34 to the financial statements.

Distributable reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company at 30 April 2009, calculated under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and consisted of the aggregate of
contributed surplus and retained earnings, amounted to US$22,561,000
(2008: US$13,485,000).

Share options

The Company's share option scheme (“Scheme”) was adopted pursuant
to a resolution of the then sole shareholder passed on 22 April 2002 for
the primary purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons
for their contribution or potential contribution to the Group. Under the
Scheme, the Board or a committee thereof may grant options to eligible
persons (see summary below) to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Pursuant to an ordinary resolution relating to the amendments to the
Scheme passed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on
16 August 2004, the exclusion of Mr. WANG Lu Yen from participating in
the Scheme so long as he remains as a substantial shareholder (as such
term is construed in accordance with the Listing Rules) of the Company
has been removed.

Summary of the Scheme is as follows:

1. Eligible persons
The eligible persons under the Scheme include:

(i) any director or proposed director (whether executive or non-
executive, including any independent non-executive director),
employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part time)
of any member of the Group or any controlling shareholder
of the Company or any company controlled by a controlling
shareholder of the Company; or

(i) any holder of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any controlling shareholder of the Company or any company
controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company; or

(iii) any business partner, agent, consultant, representative, supplier
of goods or services or customer of any member of the Group
or any controlling shareholder of the Company or any company
controlled by a controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Share options (Continued)

2.

Maximum number of shares

The initial total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue immediately following the listing of
the Company's shares.

Subject to the approval by the Company's shareholders, the aggregate
number of the Company's shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not exceed 30% of the Company's shares in issue from time to
time. Options granted to the independent non-executive directors or
substantial shareholders of the Company or any of their respective
associates in excess of 0.1% of the Company's shares in issue and
with an aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million resulting in the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
options already granted and to be granted to such person under
the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant of such option
must be approved in advance by the Company's shareholders.

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 5 August 2003,
the Company's shareholders approved the refreshment of the Scheme
mandate and the total number of shares which may be issued upon
the exercise of options granted under the Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company was re-set at 10% of the shares in
issue on 5 August 2003, the date of approval of the refreshment (i.e.
64,740,000 shares).

At a special general meeting of the Company held on 11 December
2008, the Company's shareholders approved a further refreshment of
the Scheme mandate and the total number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of options granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company was re-set at 10%
of the shares in issue on 11 December 2008, the date of approval of
the refreshment (i.e. 67,499,464 shares).

Maximum entitlement for each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted under the Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company to any eligible persons (including those
cancelled, exercised and outstanding options), in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant shall not exceed 1% of the
Company's shares in issue. Any further grant of options in excess of
such limit must be separately approved by the Company's shareholders
in general meeting.
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Share options (Continued)

4.

Acceptance and payment on acceptance

Options granted must be taken up within 30 days inclusive of the
day on which such offer was made, upon payment of HK$1 per
option. Options may be exercised at any time commencing on the
date as the Board may determine and ending on such date as the
Board may determine but shall not exceed 10 years from the date
of grant. The exercise price is determined by the directors of the
Company, and will not be less than the higher of the closing price of
the Company's shares on the date of grant and the average closing
price of the shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant.

Remaining life of the Scheme

Subject to the earlier termination of the Scheme in accordance with
the rules governing the Scheme, the Scheme will expire on 22 April
2012.

Movement of the options to subscribe for shares of the Company granted

to the directors of the Company and employees (Note ii) during the year

under review was as follows:

Options granted by the Company
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Number of underlying shares of the Company

ARAREZRRREBZ AL ARNYAE

Outstanding Qutstanding Exercise
as at as at price
1 May 2008  Granted Cancelled Lapsed 30 April 2009 per share Date of grant Exercise period
(HKS)
R R
“ERNE “ERNE
ZA-A MA=1H
HATE  ERE  EE#  EBAM  HAGR SKROEE RHES s
(&7)
Directors £
Michel BOURLON Michel BOURLON - 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 0.164 04/11/2008 12/01/2010-11/01/2015
(Note iv) (BizEiv)
KHOO Kim Cheng iffbS 5,660,000 = = = 5,660,000 0830 24/08/2007 24/08/2008-23/08[2013
WONG Wai Ming =EH 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
WANG Arthur Minshiang Tax 625,000 = = = 625,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius HET 625,000 = = = 625,000 0830 24/08/2007 24/08/2008-23/08/2013
Peter Loris SOLOMON Peter Loris SOLOMON 10,500,000 - - - 10,500,000 0830 24/08/2007  24/08/2008-23/08/2013
(Note v) (izEv)
Continuous contract employees BESHES 18,970,500 - - (3,073,000) 15,897,500 0.830 24/08/2007 24/08/2008-23/08/2013
(Note i) (Hzi)
Total ait 37,380,500 20,000,000 - (3,073,000) 54,307,500
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Share options (Continued)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotations sheet immediately before the dates on which the outstanding options were
granted were as follows:

Date of grant

BRE @

B -
() REEMRTEBRERL A BN RAEH2 ALK
MRRAFIAR TR 2 KT BIT -

Closing price per share immediately
before the date of grant

R A ZERH AN 2 ESRKHE
HK$

(%x)

23 August 2007 —ZET+FNA=+=8 0.860
3 November 2008 —ETEN\F+—A=H 0.140

Employees include employees of the Group and of the subsidiaries of Roly International
(other than the directors of the Company) working under employment contracts with the
Group or subsidiaries of Roly International which are regarded as “"continuous contracts”
for the purpose of the Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57, Laws of Hong Kong).

The Company has used the Black-Scholes Model for estimating the fair value of options
granted under the Scheme. The Black-Scholes Model is one of the commonly used models
to estimate the fair value of an option which can be exercised before the expiry of the
option period. The assumptions used in the calculation are:

(a) Risk-free interest rate - the yield of 4-year Exchange Fund Notes on the date of
grant

(b) Expected volatility of share price - annualised volatility for one year immediately
preceding the date of grant

() Expected life of share options - 3.5-4.5 years
(d) Expected dividend paid out rate - 40%

The amount charged to in the income statement for the year ended 30 April 2009 was
approximately US$171,000 (2008: US$236,000).

The fair value of options granted during the year under review using the Black-Scholes
Model was approximately US$49,000 (2008: US$430,000).

The calculation of the fair value of options using the Black-Scholes Model is based on
various assumptions and is only an estimate. It is possible that the financial benefit
accruing to the option holders may be substantially different from the value of options
calculated.

Options to subscribe for 20,000,000 shares of the Company were granted to Mr. Michel
BOURLON. The number of shares underlying such option are in excess of the individual
limit permitted under the rules of the Scheme and the Listing Rules. Approval from
shareholders of the Company in relation to the grant of options in excess of the individual
limit to Mr. Bourlon was obtained at special general meeting of the Company held on 11
December 2008. Details of the grant of such options were disclosed in the Company's
circular dated 25 November 2008.

Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON resigned as a director of the Company with effect from 1 August
2008. The outstanding share options held by Mr. Solomon lapsed on 31 July 2009 which
was the date of termination of his employment with the Company.
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Directors
The directors of the Company during the year under review and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors

WANG Lu Yen (appointed acting chief executive officer for the
period from 1 August 2008 to 12 January
2009)

Michel BOURLON (appointed with effect from 12 January 2009)

KHOO Kim Cheng

Peter Loris SOLOMON (resigned with effect from 1 August 2008)

Non-executive directors
WONG Wai Ming
Mark HSU

Independent non-executive directors

WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Jakob Jacobus Koert
TULLENERS

KWOK Tai Ki

(appointed with effect from 5 May 2008)

(resigned with effect from 5 May 2008)

Mr. WONG Wai Ming, Mr. WANG Arthur Minshiang and Mr. TSE Hau Yin,
Aloysius, in accordance with bye-laws 87(1) and 87(2) of the Company's
bye-laws, and Mr. Michel BOURLON in accordance with bye-law 86(2) of the
Company's bye-laws, will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Directors' service contracts

Mr. Michel BOURLON has entered into an employment agreement
("Employment Agreement”) with the Company in relation to his appointment
as an executive director and the chief executive officer of the Company for
an initial term of three years from 12 January 2009 (“Hire Date") which will
be renewed automatically for one year on each anniversary of the third
anniversary of the Hire Date until terminated by either party by serving at
least 60 days' notice (prior to the date of automatic renewal for a further
one year term) or by 12 months' notice or making payment in lieu (on other
occasions) in accordance with the Employment Agreement. In accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Bourlon will retire at the next
general meeting of the Company and will be eligible for re-election at
that same meeting.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors who are proposed for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting have a service
contract with the Group which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Directors’' interests in shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations

As at 30 April 2009, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571,
Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO, or were required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange,
were as follows:

(a) Interests and short positions in the shares of the Company
and its associated corporations
(i) Interests in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations

Company/Name of

EERARAIREMEBEE 2R
MERDRESP 2ER

RZZEZNFNA=1+H ' AARIZEZRITHRA
HBRARRSEEMBEEE (T LEBEME
STEES KBRS ([FH KRG EXVER)
ZHx CHERG REFTEBERARNAAIRE

FHREBEGRAFEARTFE 2B R Mz s kK
B (WEE) RIBZETAAEMNE AR F KR
FreEsm kAR

(@) REDARAEEBZIBZRO P 2ERER
RE

() RAERFREIGEZE 2 K e

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class

Number and class of securities as

associated corporations Name of directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2009
(Note 1)

R-ZEZhF

B=t+H#EREA

ARTFHEEECEE ESHE g4 REYERERN BHEPZREBIL
(Bf#E1)

Company WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 620,000 0.09%
iN/NE]| B! BEmEa A ordinary shares
(L

Company WANG Lu Yen Interest of controlled 481,368,953 71.31%
¥iN/NE] F 12 corporations ordinary shares
(Note 3) TR
AR R (L)

(Ff#3E3)

Company Michel BOURLON Beneficial owner 2,166,666 0.32%
¥iN/NE] EmHEA A ordinary shares
AL
(L)
(Note 2)
(M47E2)

Company WANG Arthur Beneficial owner 260,000 0.049%
Vi N/NC]| Minshiang EmEA A ordinary shares
T 8 E A
(L)

Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 100,000 0.01%
P/ N/NC] =28 ExnEAA ordinary shares
R

L
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Directors'
and debent

Directors

interests in shares, underlying shares

ures of the Company and its associated

corporations (Continued)

Interests

(a)

and short positions in the shares of the Company

and its associated corporations (Continued)
(i) Interests in the shares of the Company and its associated

corporations (Continued)

Company/Name of

1|

ESERADAREEEZE 2R

MHERDREZSP 2R

(a)

(&)

RAERAREEBZE 2RO D ZERZR

RE ()
() RAERFREIGHZEZ R #e ()

Number and class

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class
of securities as

associated corporations Name of directors Capacity of securities at 30 April 2009
(Note 1)

R-ZBELEF

mA=t+BERER

ADEHEBEEzEE 2 EBEHR &4 HEHEARERN RBEFZREBEISL
(BfaE1)

Megastar WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 1 ordinary share 1000%
(Note 3) (Pf7E3) E4E BEHERA 1%@%
L

Westman Linmark (Thailand) WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 2 preference shares 0.07%
Ltd. T8 BEaEAA 2B
(Notes 4 and 5) ([ff5E4%5) (8]

Westman Linmark (Thailand) KHOO Kim Cheng Beneficial owner 1 preference share 0.03%
Ltd. BB &7 R EREAA 1BER
(Note 4) (Ffi7E4) (L)

Notes:

(2)
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The letter "L" represents the director's interests in the shares.

Mr. Michel BOURLON had acquired these 2,166,666 shares of the Company
from RGS Holdings Limited (“RGS"), a wholly owned subsidiary of Roly
International, pursuant to an offer letter dated 4 November 2008 from
RGS to Mr. Bourlon. Pursuant to such offer letter, RGS had agreed to
grant options to Mr. Bourlon to purchase from RGS up to 6,500,000
ordinary shares of the Company subject to and upon the terms and
conditions stated therein. As at 30 April 2009, Mr. Bourlon had exercised
his options to acquire 2,166,666 shares of the Company from RGS, while
options to acquire 4,333,334 shares of the Company from RGS remained
outstanding.

As at 30 April 2009, (i) RGS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Roly International,
owned 435,553,334 shares of the Company, representing approximately
64.53% of the issued share capital of the Company; and (i) Roly
International owned 45,815,619 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 6.79% of the issued share capital of the Company. By virtue
of the relationship between Mr. WANG Lu Yen and Roly International as
stated in Note (2) of Section (a)(i) to the paragraph headed "Substantial
shareholders and other persons who are required to disclose their interests
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO" below, Mr. WANG Lu Yen was deemed,
by virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO, to be interested in all
the shares of the Company in which Roly International and RGS were
interested.

Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. is a subsidiary of the Company. As at 30
April 2009, the issued share capital of Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. was
12,000,000 Baht divided into 2,940 ordinary shares of 2,000 Baht each and
3,060 preference shares of 2,000 Baht each.

Mr. WANG Lu Yen is deemed to be interested in all ordinary shares (i.e. 2,940
representing 100%) and preference share (i.e. 1 share representing 0.03%)
of Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. registered in the name of Linmark
Agency (BVI) Limited by virtue of the fact that Linmark Agency (BVI) Limited
is wholly owned by the Company.
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Q)
(2)

(5)
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Directors'

interests in shares, underlying shares

and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (Continued)

(a) Interests

and short positions in the shares of the Company

and its associated corporations (Continued)

(i) Short positions in the shares of the Company and its associated

corporations

Company/Name of

EERAQNTAREREBEE KRG
HERORESFP 2ER @)

MR
HE ()

(a)

REABLIE2ROF 2EEZR

(i) REARFREIGHZEZRGKE

Number and class

Percentage
shareholding in
the same class
of securities as

associated corporations Name of director Capacity of securities at 30 April 2009
(Note 1)
R=ZZBZBNF
A=+RHERE?
AATHEEZEzEE EEES 54 EFFHERER FHFP2REEIL
(Bft&ET)
Company WANG Lu Yen Interest of controlled 4,333,334 0.64%
PIN/NG] F1%E corporations ordinary shares
(Note 2) TR
ZEHNEAR 2 s (S)
(PfFEE2)
Notes: B aE
(1) The letter “S" represents the director's short positions in the shares. (1) TSITyEESRRDF AR ©
(2)  Pursuant to an offer letter dated 4 November 2008 from RGS, a wholly 2 BEEZEBRERZ2EHE 2 FRGSEMichel

owned subsidiary of Roly International, to Mr. Michel BOURLON, RGS
had agreed to grant options to Mr. Bourlon to purchase from RGS up
to 6,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company subject to and upon the
terms and conditions stated therein. As at 30 April 2009, Mr. Bourlon had
exercised his options to acquire 2,166,666 shares of the Company from
RGS, while options to acquire 4,333,334 shares of the Company from
RGS remained outstanding. As at 30 April 2009, (i) RGS, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Roly International, had short positions in 4,333,334 shares
of the Company, representing approximately 0.64% of the issued share
capital of the Company. By virtue of the relationship between Mr. WANG
Lu Yen and Roly International as stated in Note (2) of Section (a)(i) to the
paragraph headed "Substantial shareholders and other persons who are
required to disclose their interests pursuant to Part XV of the SFO" below,
Mr. Wang was deemed, by virtue of the provisions of Part XV of the SFO,
to be interested in all the short positions in the shares of the Company in
which Roly International and RGS were interested.

BOURLONSEEZ HEI A= T )\F+— AW
B2 Z4) 1% - RGSE R & % FBourlonst 4
A% A% 7 LA B RGSU 2 5 26,500,000/ 78 2 A)
LA ¢ M JE B ST 5 B 1 BT R AR AR R AR o
R-ZZZHEMA=+H - Bourlonkc £ 2
1755 H 8 AR 7 B RGSUK B 2,166,666/% 2 A Al
B 15 + 1 181 A A #ERGSUK BE4,333 334k A A
AR 2 ERERITHE - R=ZZEZNFMA
=18  (EEBEEz2EKE 2D FRGSH
4,333,334 AN RRAFEE KRR © KGR
AR)BEITARA0.64% °c AR TX [EER/RFR
RARIEFH RS GBI EXVEB AR B w2
Hpth A £ — B35 (a)(i) 3610 2 HY & (2) A ittt
HELEEEHEERZENEER  RIEES
REAE GBI EXVER Z 15X » EREWBR/R
2B BIPR RRCSFT#E A 2 FT A AR AR
RBRER 2
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Report of the Directors
EExemss

Directors'

interests in shares, underlying shares

EERADAREEBEE 2R

and debentures of the Company and its associated MR RESZF 2EE @)
corporations (Continued)

(b) Interests and short positions in the underlying shares of

(c)

the Company and its associated corporations

Company/Name of

(b) RADBDRHEABBEZEZBERG Tz #®
589}

Number of underlying
shares comprised in

associated corporations Name of directors Capacity the options and warrants
(Notes 1 and 2)
BRERIABRERFESZ
AATE L BB EENR S HHERMEE
(FFE1R2)
Company Michel BOURLON Beneficial owner 24,333,334 (L)
IN/NE]| EmEAA
Company KHOO Kim Cheng Beneficial owner 5,660,000 (L)
¥iN/NE]| G Em#EA A
Company WONG Wai Ming Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L)
iN/NE]| =ZH EnEEA
Company WANG Arthur Minshiang Beneficial owner 625,000 (L)
ViN/NE]| F Bk EmEEA
Company TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius Beneficial owner 625,000 (L)
PN/NC] HEDT EnEEA
Notes: BiaE -
(1) The letter "L" represents the director's interests in the shares. (1) TU DAEEERRG T 2 o
(2)  Details of the above underlying shares are set out in the paragraph headed (20 LEHiEREROZFBEEN [EZEERMIESZ

“Directors' rights to acquire shares or debentures".

Interests and short positions in the debentures of the (c)

Company and its associated corporations

] —B -

REQXTREABEB 2 ES T 2 EERAK

Lom S

As at 30 April 2009, none of the directors and chief executive of the RZBEZNFWNA=1+H ' ARFZ2EZERTT

Company had interests or short positions in the debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register B/

required to be kept by the Company under section 352 of the SFO BEZE
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code.
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Directors’ rights to acquire shares or debentures

(1) Movement of the options granted by the Company to the directors
of the Company under the Scheme during the year under review was
set out in the paragraph headed "Share Options" above.

(2) On 29 April 2004, Roly International issued bonus warrants carrying
the right to subscribe for new ordinary shares of US$0.10 each in the
capital of Roly International to its shareholders whose names were
on the register of members of Roly International as at 26 April 2004
on the basis of one bonus warrant for every four existing ordinary
shares of Roly International held by them. Each bonus warrant entitles
the holder to subscribe for one new share at the exercise price of
S$0.75 at any time during the period commencing on 29 April 2004
and expiring on 28 April 2009. All subscription rights comprised in
the warrants which have not been exercised lapsed and the warrants
ceased to be valid for any purpose after 5.00 p.m. on 28 April 2009.
Particulars of the warrants issued to a director of the Company and
the position as at 30 April 2009 were as follows:

EERERODUESFZEF
() ARARADEFEARBZAEHET AL
2 WEREHRN X [BRE &

20 R=TZFOFOA=-tIE  2EBERETO
MRBREETR —ZZENOFIA - +/XHAAT
REBEBRRERAMAZ KRR - AFRBREE
AR 2B BRI A &R EE010E T Z
HEBR RN SHAENREZEBRERYE
iﬁ&’ﬁﬂ?% — AL R R HERE © FALA

REEEARBAEAR_ZZNFOA -+
BE_TZEAFEOA-_+/\BHHE - AITEE
0.755T N3 TC R — R AX - R =TT N F I
ﬂ*+AHT¢£%E&'ﬁ$ﬁ@ZWk%

AZ%ﬁu%%ﬁi%ﬁ N BB E

AR AEEM  RZEFNLFHA=1TH &

é%aﬁﬁﬁzwk%ﬁﬁ\&#%w

7‘ D) fﬂﬁé ’fn

Warrants issued by Roly International
Number of underlying shares of
Roly International outstanding

Name of director Capacity as at 1 May 2008 as at 30 April 2009
EREIBRRHERRTEZ
RREZEEZ2HBERRGHE
R-ZBENF R-ZEBNF
EEpnE &4 HA—H mMA=+H
WANG Lu Yen Beneficial owner 5,050,000 —
E%E EHEAA
Interest of spouse 87,500 -
[P £
Interest of controlled corporations 74,861,807 -

RAEHEE 2 s

(3) Pursuant to an offer letter dated 4 November 2008 from RGS, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Roly International, to Mr. Michel BOURLON, RGS
granted options to Mr. Bourlon to purchase from RGS up to 6,500,000
ordinary shares of the Company subject to and upon the terms and
conditions stated therein. On 13 January 2009, Mr. Bourlon exercised
his options to purchase 2,166,666 shares of the Company from RGS.
As at 30 April 2009, options to acquire 4,333,334 shares of the
Company from RGS remained outstanding.

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review
was the Company, or any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the
Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

B) BEZHERZ 2 EKE 2 5RGSEMichel
BOURLON. A2 BEAR —ZTZENF+—AWH
ZEZHEH - RGSE A E & TBourlont £ #E i
T LA B RGS UK BE 5 26,500,000 A8 28 A =) 38 A% -
MR BT R TG R R R - RZZTN
i—H+EE'MMWﬁ$ﬁ@ﬁ$%%‘§
RGSULAE2,166,666AX R N AR « RZZT S EF
EHE+E'ﬁEﬂﬁWBW%m%3Mk$A
AR 2 BE AR AR AT o

B EXPEREEIN  RACBEFEEMER - AR
IR EEMZER AR - B/ RHE A RSB R E ]
BLETVEMNRFNEARREETAREBALR
A S AR AT B At A B 2 B A SRAB 25 M S ER R & o

“PEAEEE AEREARAF 43



Report of the Directors
EExemss

Substantial shareholders and other persons who are
required to disclose their interests pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO
(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company
As at 30 April 2009, the following shareholders (other than the
directors and chief executive of the Company whose interests and
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

FERREBREZZRBEEHE
XVBBARBERESR 2 HMAL

(a) FARAFZEERR
RZZZAFHA=+TE TIKRR (ERAE
RAZBMD BB 2 EERAREHR £
X2 AR RBEERITHAERIN) RAREZ

are set out above) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required

Betn K R RE B {0 Fh B AR AR R BIR 1B 5 55
K EIR GBI F 3361517 B 2 B L fit 2 1 a5 30K

to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO: B
(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company ()  RAERBIRGRIGER D2 e

Name of substantial shareholders

TERREW

Capacity

545

Number of
shares of the
Company held
(Note 1)

BEEAQT
B & H
(B¥=E1)

Approximate
percentage of
interests as at
30 April 2009

R-ZEZENF
mMB=+H

ZESEMOBE DL

RGS

Roly International

2EEER

Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited

Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited

Megastar

RI Investment Holdings, Ltd.

Asia Pacific Growth Fund V., L.P. ("APGF \/")

Asia Pacific Associates V., L.P.

Beneficial owner

BEmEAA

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2)

REHLAE 2w (RE2)

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2)

Bz s (MEE2)

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2)

RAEHIAE 2 e (FRE2)

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2)

REHLAE 2t (fRE2)

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2)

RiEHAE 2 s (HaE2)

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2)

SESEE s (HE2)

Interest of controlled
corporations (Note 2)

RAEHLAE 2 s (FRE2)

435,553,334 (L)

481,368,953 (L)

481,368,953 (L)

481,368,953 (L)

481,368,953 (L)

481,368,953 (L)

481,368,953 (L)

481,368,953 (L)

64.53%

71.31%

71.31%

71.31%

71.31%

71.31%

71.31%

71.31%
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who are T EZRRKRIBEEF KRB EKLIE
required to disclose their interests pursuant to Part XV EHEEERZ 2 HMA L )

XV of the SFO (Continued)

(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (Continued) (a) XDFAZEERRK (&)
RAERFIRG RIGER G .2 e (B)

(i) Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company (i)
(Continued)

Approximate

Number of percentage of
shares of the interests as at
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Company held 30 April 2009
(Note 1)
R-Z2BNF
BEXRRQF MA=+H
TEREEH 56 BRABE SRSEOESL
(B&E)
Arisaig Greater China Fund Limited Beneficial owner 66,469,000 (L) 9.85%
(Note 3) BEmEa A
(BzE3)
Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited Investment manager 66,469,000 (L) 9.85%
(Notes 3 and 4) B &R
(MH3E3%e4)
Lindsay William Ernest COOPER Interest of controlled 66,469,000 (L) 9.85%
(Notes 3 and 5) corporation
(PfTEE3 R25) REHAE 2 R
UBS AG Person having a security 35,406,000 (L) 5.25%

interest in shares

KA A B S 2 AT

(1) The letter "L" represents the entity's interests in the shares.

(2) As at 30 April 2009, (i) RGS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Roly International,
owned 435,553,334 shares of the Company, representing approximately
64.53% of the issued share capital of the Company; and (ii) Roly
International owned 45,815,619 shares of the Company, representing
approximately 6.79% of the issued share capital of the Company. Roly
International is wholly owned by Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited. Rl Holdings
Bermuda Limited is held by Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited as
to 92%. RI Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited is held by each of RI
Investment Holdings, Ltd. and Megastar as to 49.9% and 50.1% respectively.
Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. is wholly owned by APGF V. APGF V is a limited
partnership of which Asia Pacific Associates V., L.P. is its general partner
and is in control of the limited partnership. Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a director
of the Company, is also a director of RGS, Roly International, Rl Holdings
Bermuda Limited, Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited and Megastar.

(3) Arisaig Greater China Fund Limited and its associates mentioned in Notes
(4) and (5) ceased to be interested in the shares of the Company on 10 June
2009.

(4)  Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited is the fund manager of Arisaig Greater
China Fund Limited.

(5) Mr. Lindsay William Ernest COOPER owns 100% interest in Madeleine Ltd
which in turn owns 33.33% interest in Arisaig Partners (Holdings) Limited.
Arisaig Partners (Holdings) Limited, through its wholly owned subsidiary
Arisaig Partners (BVI) Limited, owns 100% interest in Arisaig Partners
(Mauritius) Limited.

BT -

(1)
(2)

(4)

(5)

L] THieERN R P 2 s o

: 722%@@}%5'}'5 CEEBRZ

& Bff /8 A BIRGSHE A 435,553 334X AN A &
Hﬁf’z} B D R B B 1T AR K964.53% ¢ K
(i) 2 B B B 9 5 45,815,619 AN 2 7] AR 19
fER A R B B AT IRAA6.79% ° 2 Y B R
FARI Holdings Bermuda Limited® & # & °
Rl Holdings Bermuda LimitedfiRI Investment
Holdings Bermuda Limited#% A 9200## z ° Rl
Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited4> 5l F3RI
Investment Holdings, Ltd. 5 Megastar# 75 49.9%
1%250.19%# 2% ° Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd.Fd
APGF V2 & ° APGF VA—REREZ A
A7) HAsia Pacific Associates V., LP.AEAH
LTREBA BEZEREBARAZE
HE o NRARZESE TR %k IRARRGS
% g Bl B - Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited *
Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited &2
Megastar 2 &5 o

REZFZAFNA+TH - KBizE@) &)k &
Z/-\rlsa\g Greater China Fund L\mlted&,ﬁéﬁwa
NAEIETERARE 2 RO A

Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) le\ted/"E’jArisaig
Greater China Fund Limited 2 54 438

Lindsay William Ernest COOPERSTAE#EAMadeleine
Ltd™ 100%,2 # %S * Madeleine Ltd Bl Arisaig
Partners (Holdings) Limited™133.330%0 2 2% °
Arisaig Partners (Holdings) Limitedi® i@ H &
& [f} B A B)Arisaig Partners (BVI) Limited##&
Arisaig Partners (Mauritius) Limited# 10000, 4
%o
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Report of the Directors

BHEE

Substantial shareholders and other persons who are
required to disclose their interests pursuant to Part
XV of the SFO (Continued)
(a) Substantial shareholders of the Company (Continued)
(i)  Short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

TERREBEZZ R BE XM E

XVED R % & 1 5t

ZHEHMA L @)

(a) FRAFZEBRRE (&)
(i) REL ARG RIGREIR 7.2 KE
Number of Approximate percentage

shares of the

of short positions

Name of substantial shareholders Capacity Company held as at 30 April 2009
(Note 1)
R=ZZNEF
BEAATHE MA=+H
TERREH 56 RAOHE THABOE AL
(FfET)
RGS Beneficial owner 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%
BEmEB A
Roly International Interest of controlled 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%
2 5 B[R cor;oranons (Note 2)
EE z#Ewm (MiEE2)
Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited Interest of controlled 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%
corgo\rations U}Ig/te 2)
RIEGDER 2w (fEE2)
Rl Investment Holdings Interest of controlled 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%
Bermuda Limited cor orations (Note 2)
ARz (MEE2)
Megastar Interest of controlled 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%
cor£orat|ons (Note 2)
ARz (MiEE2)
Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. Interest of controlled 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%
Cor%Eo\rations QNQJZC 2) .
ZEFIEE  Em (FiFE2)
APGF V Interest of controlled 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%
corgo\rations El}lg}e 2) N
RiEHlEE (M)
Asia Pacific Associates V., L.P. Interest of controlled 4,333,334 (S) 0.64%

__corporations (Note 2)
=i

ARz e (BaE2)

Notes:

(1)
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The letter "S" represents the entity's interests in the shares.

Pursuant to an offer letter dated 4 November 2008 from RGS, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Roly International, to Mr. Michel BOURLON, RGS
had agreed to grant options to Mr. Bourlon to purchase from RGS up
to 6,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company subject to and upon the
terms and conditions stated therein. As at 30 April 2009, Mr. Bourlon had
exercised his options to acquire 2,166,666 shares of the Company from
RGS, while options to acquire 4,333,334 shares of the Company from
RGS remained outstanding. As at 30 April 2009, (i) RGS, a wholly owned
subsidiary of Roly International, had short positions in 4,333,334 shares of
the Company, representing approximately 0.64% of the issued share capital
of the Company. Roly International is wholly owned by RI Holdings Bermuda
Limited. Rl Holdings Bermuda Limited is held by Rl Investment Holdings
Bermuda Limited as to 92%. Rl Investment Holdings Bermuda Limited is
held by each of Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. and Megastar as to 49.9% and
50.1% respectively. Rl Investment Holdings, Ltd. is wholly owned by APGF
V. APGF V is a limited partnership of which Asia Pacific Associates V., L.P.
is its general partner and is in control of the limited partnership.
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BOURLON%EEZ HBHA-ZTT)\F+—A
/9B 2 B4 K - RGSE, [Fl & ¥ FBourlonst
A BB IAE - 7 4RGSR B £ % 6,500,0008% &
NEERER - MEE RSP KRR R
B R=ZZZ WA=+ H ' Bourlon
FE A B 17 {0 E FE IR 4% BRGSUR F52,166,666/%
ARRARR - T A A HERGSHL #E4,333,334
RARFRRO 2 EBRERTE - R=ZFTZT
ﬂi@ﬂ TH (ERERZE2EHRE

A AIRGSHY4,333,334 % 28 X Al AR 17 1 #E 5 7%
7-5 T RMEZR R B B B ATARZR0.64% © 2L
BREARI Holdings Bermuda Limited 2 & A o
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Substantial shareholders and other persons who are

required to disclose their interests pursuant to Part

XV of the SFO (Continued)

(b) Other persons who are required to disclose their interests
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO
Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed "Directors' interests in
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations” and paragraph (a) above, as at 30 April 2009,
no other person had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

Related party transactions

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken during the
year under review are disclosed in Note 40(a) to the financial statements.
Save as disclosed below, these related party transactions fall under the
definition of a connected transaction, but are exempt from the reporting,
announcement and independent shareholders' approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Connected transactions

The related party transactions as disclosed in Note 40(a) to the financial
statements constitute connected transactions or as the case may be,
continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules and are subject
to the reporting requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The following transactions between certain connected persons (as
defined in the Listing Rules) and the Company have been entered into
and/or are ongoing for which relevant announcements, if necessary, had
been made by the Company in accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

1. Continuing connected transactions relating to Dowry
Peacock
Dowry Peacock is 60% owned by the Company, 30% owned by Mr.
Raymond Anthony NUGENT, a director of Dowry Peacock, and 10%
owned by Lucky Marriot Consolidated Limited, an independent third

party.

The Company entered into a service agreement (“Service Agreement”)
dated 10 April 2006 with Dowry Peacock for a term of three years. The
Service Agreement serves as a top-level framework agreement between
the Company and Dowry Peacock to requlate the transactions to be
entered into by the Group and Dowry Peacock and its subsidiaries
which constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules by virtue of Dowry Peacock and its subsidiaries
being associates of Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT.

FERRERRBERBZRYPERHE
XVER R BEES 2 HMA L

(b) REBZRPEKEMBXVBEARERTZ 2H
LAt
B IEERARE REABEE 2B - 18R
B REsp 2z Ems] — Bk EXEQBRAE
BEN R-ZETZAFOA=1TH  HEEM
ATRARR z et BB R A AL A
ARRIREES KRR EOIE6MFFEZ B
itz EERFAR ©

BEREALRS
AOBFERNETHNERAREALZ SN B R
EHI 40 NBEE - BRI EES  WERE
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Connected transactions (Continued)

il

48 Linmark Group Limited

Continuing connected transactions relating to Dowry
Peacock (Continued)

The services include provision of management, administrative and
consultancy services by the Group to Dowry Peacock andfor its
subsidiary(ies), provision of sourcing services, agency services and/
or services in relation to trading of merchandises or supply chain
activities by the Group to Dowry Peacock and/or its subsidiary(ies) or
provision of the sourcing services, agency services and/or services in
relation to trading of merchandises or supply chain activities to be
provided by Dowry Peacock and/or its subsidiary(ies) to the Group,
provision of quality inspection services on merchandises by the Group
to Dowry Peacock and/or its subsidiary(ies) and provision and receipt
of such other services ancillary or to facilitate the business activities
of the Group and Dowry Peacock and/or its subsidiary(ies).

The Service Agreement serves as a platform to allow the Company
and Dowry Peacock and its respective subsidiaries to enjoy synergies
in terms of complementary services that could be provided by one
to another.

During the year under review, the aggregate amount received by
the Group from Dowry Peacock and its subsidiary(ies) for services
provided by the Group to Dowry Peacock and its subsidiary(ies) under
the Service Agreement was approximately US$510,813 (equivalent to
approximately HK$3,984,000); and no service was provided by Dowry
Peacock or any of its subsidiaries to the Group under the Service
Agreement during the year under review.

The three-year term of the Service Agreement ended on 9 April 2009.
Thereafter, the transactions between the Group and Dowry Peacock
would still continue but management estimates that, with a smaller
aggregate amount, such transactions would be exempt from the
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders' approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Connected transactions (Continued)

2.

Continuing connected transaction relating to Linmark (HK)
Limited

On 14 February 2008, Linmark (HK) Limited ("Linmark HK") entered
into a tenancy agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”) with Ken Ball Limited
("Ken Ball") whereby Ken Ball agreed to lease to Linmark HK House
127, The Portofino, 88-188 Pak To Avenue, Clearwater Bay, Sai Kung,
New Territories, Hong Kong on a fully-furnished basis for a term of
24 months commencing on 14 February 2008, provided that Linmark
HK has an option to terminate the Tenancy Agreement in the second
year after the commencement date by giving two months notice to
Ken Ball in writing. The monthly rent (inclusive of rates, government
rent and service charges) payable by Linmark HK to Ken Ball under
the Tenancy Agreement is HK$135,000.

The aggregate rental (inclusive of rates, government rent and service
charges) paid by Linmark HK during the year ended 30 April 2009 to
Ken Ball is HK$1,620,000. A notice of termination has been served to
terminate the Tenancy Agreement with effect from 7 August 2009.

The entire issued share capital of Ken Ball is owned by Mr. Solomon, a
former executive director and the former chief executive officer of the
Company, who resigned with effect from 1 August 2008 but would
remain as an employee of the Group until 7 August 2009. Accordingly,
Ken Ball is an associate of Mr. Solomon and a connected person of
the Company during the year ended 30 April 2009.

The directors of the Company (including the independent non-executive

directors) consider that these connected transactions were conducted in the

usual and ordinary course of business of the Group on normal commercial

terms and in accordance with the agreements. The directors of the Company

(including the independent non-executive directors) are of the view that

the terms of these connected transactions were fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

All connected transactions were reviewed by the independent non-executive

directors of the Company at the meeting of the Audit Committee of the

Board held on 29 July 2009. The independent non-executive directors of

the Company confirmed that the aforesaid connected transactions were

entered into (a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) on normal commercial terms; and (c) in accordance with the relevant

agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in

the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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Connected transactions (continued)

In accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged
the auditors of the Company to perform certain factual finding procedures
on the above continuing connected transactions on a sample basis
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Related Services 4400
"Engagements to Perform Agreed-Upon Procedures Regarding Financial
issued by the HKICPA. The Board confirmed that it had
received a letter from the auditors of the Company confirming the matters
stated in Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.

Information”

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect
of the transactions stated above.

Directors’ interests in contracts

Save as disclosed above and in Note 40(a) to the financial statements, no
contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to which the
Company, any of its holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year under review.

Major customers and vendors of the Group

During the year under review, the five largest customers of the Group
in aggregate accounted for approximately 60.7% of the turnover of the
Group and the largest customer accounted for approximately 22.0% of the
turnover of the Group.

The five largest vendors of the Group in aggregate accounted for
approximately 17.0% of the Group's total shipment volume and the largest
vendor accounted for approximately 5.6% of the Group's total shipment
value.

None of the directors, their respective associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company) had any interest in the top five
vendors or customers noted above.

Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company's
listed securities

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's securities during the year under review.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.
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Financial summary

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on pages 133 and 134 of the annual
report.

Charitable donation
During the year under review, the Group made charitable donations
amounting to approximately US$19,000.

Corporate governance

Principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the Company are
set out in the section headed "Corporate Governance Report" on pages
18 to 32.

Sufficiency of public float

From information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the latest practicable
date prior to the issue of this annual report, the Company has maintained
a sufficient public float throughout the year under review.

Auditors
The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst &
Young.

During the year ended 30 April 2009, PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned
as the auditors of the Company with effect from 17 November 2008.
Thereafter, at a special general meeting of the Company held on 11
December 2008, Ernst & Young was appointed as the new auditors of the
Company for the financial year commencing on 1 May 2008 and to hold
office until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company. A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditors of the Company to hold
office until conclusion of the next annual general meeting at a fee to be
agreed with the directors.

On behalf of the Board

WANG Lu Yen
Chairman

Hong Kong, 31 July 2009
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Independent Auditors' Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the shareholders of Linmark Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the financial statements of Linmark Group Limited set
out on pages 54 to 132, which comprise the consolidated and company
balance sheets as at 30 April 2009, and the consolidated income statement,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors'’ the financial
statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and the

responsibility for

true and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making
accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditors' responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as to
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Auditors’ responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditors' judgement, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and true and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 30 April 2009 and
of the Group's loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
31 July 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

Are s

For the year ended 30 April 2009
BE_TTAFOA=1THILFE

2009 2008
—ZEThEF —TEN\EF
Note US$'000 Us$'000
{hE=s TEn F=T
REVENUE Wz 5 195,762 289,707
Cost of sales 5 AR (159,823) (260,109)
Gross profit EH 35,939 29,598
Other income Hfb U A 5 1,995 3,192
General and administrative expenses —M RITE R (33,207) (39,855)
Restructuring costs BHEHR (1,719) -
Impairment loss on goodwill BTt 7 (3.000) (3,000)
Impairment loss on patents and trademarks =25 K iR E AR 7 (10,137) (10,254)
Finance costs YEER 8 (52) (418)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled entity JEMR—REREEHIEE (4) (45)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BrEiRTES B 6 (10,185) (20,782)
Tax Fi1E 1 (2,069) 365
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FEEE (12,254) (20,417)
Attributable to: AT &5 el -
Equity holders of the Company RAFEREFEEA 12 (8,350) (12,789)
Minority interest DEIR R (3.904) (7,628)
(12,254) (20,417)
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AREIERFEEA
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY (L =R E1E
(expressed in US cents per share) (AZRREAMZ5) 13
Basic BN (1.2) (1.9)
Diluted 3 N/A 38 A N/A “NiiE A
Dividends &S 14 1,891 =
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

HAEEERAER

As at 30 April 2009
RZZETAFEA=+H

2009 2008
—EEhEF —ETNF
Note US$'000 US$'000
Mo aE FEx FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FEMBEE
Property, plant and equipment Mm% - BB k& 15 1,364 2,758
Intangible assets B EE 16 26,489 43,223
Available-for-sale financial asset AEfHECREE 17 84 84
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity R—REREFEEZE 19 19 23
Deferred tax assets BT IHE E 20 86 1,221
Total non-current assets BB ELRE 28,042 47,309
CURRENT ASSETS mB)E E
Inventories & 21 2,440 13,030
Trade receivables JEWE 5 BR K 22 18,239 21,428
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR ~ RE RHEM BRI 23 7,309 5,105
Due from a related company JEUR —REAE R R 2 IR 24 = 5
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkFEFMHEER 25 23,674 16,752
Total current assets MENE =LA 51,662 56,320
CURRENT LIABILITIES MENE &
Trade payables eI & 5B 26 22,282 24,543
Accruals and other payables FEET 2 A R Hth FE 5 508 27 12,040 10,765
Warranty provision RAERE 28 1,154 9,365
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FFERITEE 29 - 1,284
Balance of consideration payable for acquisitions YXESHi B A &) 2 FEHA (B A5

of subsidiaries 30 1,149 1,149
Dividend payable to a minority shareholder of ~ Ef—RHBAF—%

a subsidiary DERE 2R B 742 1,030
Tax payable FEFTREIE 2,143 1,786
Total current liabilities mENBELREE 39,510 49,922
NET CURRENT ASSETS mBNEEFE 12,152 6,398
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERMEAE 40,194 53,707
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBEE
Post-employment benefits EERKET 31 1,192 1,189
Total non-current liabilities B A ELRTE 1,192 1,189
Net assets BEFE 39,002 52,518
EQUITY 2%

Issued capital BT 32 13,500 13,500
Reserves E 34 25,502 34,501
Equity attributable to equity holders of RARE=EE AEEER

the Company 39,002 48,001
Minority interest DHRR R S - 4,517
TOTAL EQUITY TS AR 39,002 52,518

WANG Lu Yen £ Michel BOURLON
Director % Director %
—ETNFFR MEKEERAQA 55



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

AN "F)’\,%E,%@Jil%
VRO ME m

For the year ended 30 April 2009
BE_TTAFOA=1THILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANIRERE ARG
Share Capital ~ Exchange
[ssued Share option  Special redemption fluctuation  Retained Minority Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve’  reserve  reseve  earnings Total interests equity
BEf e 7l Ex EY 22 |

Be RHEE B8R B ROEE RBRE REBW A% RRER B4R
Note ~ US§000  USSOOD  USSO00  USS000  USS000  USS000  US$000  USSooo  USSoo0  USS0oo
Wt T TR TRt TR TR TR TR TR TR TR

Balance at 1 May 2007 RZETLE
RA-RZ&R 13418 20564 647 184 18 212 5197 62180 12135 74305
Loss for the year FEBR - - - - - - (12789) (12789 (7628)  [20417)
Exchange realignment [ERAE - - - - - (622) - (622) 20 (602)
Total income and expense for the year £ U A% - - - - - (622 (12789)  (1341) (7608 (21,019
Equity-settled share option WIS 2
arrangements BRERHE 3 - - 26 - - - - 26 = 236
Share options lapsedcancelled ERERH/
during the year Btz BhE 3 - - (301) - - = 301 = = =
Issue of shares Bk 3 82 - - - - - - 82 - 8
Premium arising on issue of shares ~ RAEEHBAA
upon acquisition of subsidiaries BIROELZRE 32 - 1,068 - - - - - 1,068 - 1,068
Dividend paid Bfiks - - - - - S A1 VA 7 - sy
Balance at 30 April 2008 RZEENE
BA=tR &t 13,500 21,632 582 184 48 1500 10,555 48,001 4517 52,518
Balance at 1 May 2008 RZBEN\E
il l=pd = 13,500 21,632 582 184 48 1500 10,555 48,001 4517 52,518
Loss for the year EEER - - - - - - (8,350) (8,350) (3904 (12.254)
Exchange realignment Exaa - - - - - (820) - (820) (613) (1433
Total income and expense for the year £ M A% - - - - - (8200 (83%0)  (9170)  (4517)  (13,687)
Equity-setled share option RS2
arrangements BRET 3 - - 171 - - - - 1 - 1
Share options lapstd EREXM
during the year LI E 33 - - (413) - - = 3 = = =
Balance at 30 April 2009 RIZENE
NA=TRZE&R 13,500 21,632 340 184 48 680 2,618 39,002 - 39,002
Representing: R
2009 final dividend proposed RE-EENE
RS = - - - - - 1891 - - -
Others Aft - = = = - - m - - -

: = = = = - 268 : : :

# Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value of share capital  # FRlFEEER AR REBITRAEEERA AFERBINA
of the Company issued and the aggregate amount of nominal value of share capital of RBBHARBE 2B A RRAEERRE 2 =5 -

subsidiaries acquired by the Company through an exchange of shares.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

=AN AN/~
e nER
For the year ended 30 April 2009
HE_ZETNFHA=THIEFE

2009 2008
ZEBEAF —TTN\F
Note US$'000 us$'o00
M= FExn FET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES REEB2RERE
Loss before tax: BB A ET1E (10,185) (20,782)
Adjustments for: KEEE
Finance costs MiEER 8 52 418
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled entity e —RERESEE 2 BB 4 45
Interest income FLEWA 5 (149) (598)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant HEYZE - BKERXEEER
and equipment Z BB 6 49 2
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RIB AR 2 UzE 6 (102) =
Depreciation e 6 1,460 1,715
Amortisation of intangible assets T A 6 1,132 1,158
Impairment loss on goodwill R R E R R 3,000 3,000
Impairment loss on patents and trademarks =2H &SR EEE 10,137 10,254
Equity-settled share option expense VARR#E 32 A5 2 B PR hE il =2 6 171 236
5,569 (4,552)
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FEERAL (3 m) 10,590 (3,238)
Decrease in trade receivables FEW & 5 IR FOR 3.171 9,923
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments, TANFIR - e REMRER
deposits and other receivables IR () (2,204) 1,960
Decrease in amount due from B —KEELE 2
a related company IR A 5 59
Decrease in trade payables JEFTE 5 BR SR (2,222) (6,788)
Increase/(Decrease) in accruals and BT E R R EAME IR
other payables g, Cd) 1,277 (3.182)
Decrease/(Increase) in warranty provision REBE R/ (Em) (6,537) 6,412
Increase/(Decrease) in post-employment benefits & SRR FIEMN,CRid) 125 (173)
Cash generated from operations REEBMERE 9,774 421
Interest paid BAIFLE (52) (418)
Tax paid ETIE (964) (3,167)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating REEKE (R Be$8E
activities 8,758 (3,164)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEZHERE
Interest received EHFE 149 598
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEYE  BERKZHE
equipment (275) (990)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - KEREE
property, plant and equipment FR1S5E 42 42
Acquisitions of subsidiaries Lz B BT B A ) - (2,603)
Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHEB R AFRERIE 35 103 =
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from BREFBE (FFE) Re/FE
investing activities 19 (2,953)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES MBS HESRE
New bank loans FTILIRITE R = 238
Repayment of bank loans BERITER (1,284) (5,000)
Dividends paid BEARE - (2,154)
Net cash outflow from financing activities BEEB TR &R R (1,284) (6.916)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
LKEReRER

2009 2008
ZEBENF ZETN\F
Note US$'000 us$'o00
M= FExxn FET
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReE MRS FBEIEE
CASH EQUIVALENTS #hn,Ord) Fa 7,493 (13,033)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FzReRREFEER
the year 16,752 30,405
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net MEREE) 2 5 (571) (620)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FrBHe MRS EEER
THE YEAR 23,674 16,752
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRASFEEE 2E&HBRDIT
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & RIRITHEF 23,674 13,479
Non-pledged time deposits with original BSRRIHBE R =EA A
maturity of less than three months when 2R E HATE R
acquired - 3,273
23,674 16,752
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Balance Sheet
BEEAER

As at 30 April 2009
RZZETAFEA=+H

2009 2008
—ZEThEF —TEN\EF
Note us$'o00 Us$'000
{hE=s Fxx FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EMENE
Investments in subsidiaries RSB RE 2 %E 18 55,786 46,932
Total non-current assets EmBNEERTE 55,786 46,932
CURRENT ASSETS mBNEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TR © e REMEIGRIE 23 1 72
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkFLFMHIER 25 2,319 2,267
Total current assets MENE ELRER 2,320 2,339
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEA &
Accruals and other payables FEET & M K H fh FE T FRIE 27 25 24
Total current liabilities mEEEREE 25 24
NET CURRENT ASSETS MEEEFE 2,295 2,315
Net assets BEFE 58,081 49,247
EQUITY RS
Issued capital B EITRA 32 13,500 13,500
Reserves i 34(b) 44,581 35,747
TOTAL EQUITY TEm AR 58,081 49,247

WANG Lu Yen 4%
Director &%

Michel BOURLON
Director 2%
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BRI At

2.1

60

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Linmark Group Limited ("Company") is an investment holding company
and its subsidiaries (together with the Company are collectively
referred to as the "Group”) are principally engaged in the sales
of merchandise and provision of procurement and value-added
services.

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda on 25 January 2002 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The Company's
shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) since 10 May 2002. In the
opinion of the directors, the holding company of the Company is Roly
International Holdings Ltd., which is incorporated in Bermuda, and
the ultimate holding company is Megastar Holdings Limited, which
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") (which comprise
standards and interpretations approved by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB"), and International Accounting Standards
("IASs") and Standing Interpretations Committee interpretations
approved by the International Accounting Standards Committee that
remain in effect) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for an available-for-sale financial asset,
which has been measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in United States dollars ("US$") and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 April
2009. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.
All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the
Group are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Minority interest represents the interest of outside shareholders not
held by the Group in the results and net assets of the Company's
subsidiaries.
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2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The Group has adopted the following new and revised IFRSs and
new International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee
interpretations ("IFRIC-Int") for the first time for the current year's
financial statements.

IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Amendments to IAS 39 Financial
Amendments Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures - Reclassification
of Financial Assets

IFRIC-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

[FRIC-Int 14 IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined Benefit
Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements
and their Interaction

The principal effects of adopting these new and revised IFRSs and
[FRIC-Int are as follows:

(a) Amendments to |AS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Reclassification of Financial
Assets
The amendments to IAS 39 permit an entity to reclassify a non-
derivative financial asset classified as held for trading, other
than a financial asset designated by an entity as at fair value
through profit or loss upon initial recognition, out of the fair
value through profit or loss category if the financial asset is no
longer held for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the
near term, if specified criteria are met.

A debt instrument that would have met the definition of loans
and receivables (if it had not been required to be classified as
held for trading at initial recognition) may be classified out of
the fair value through profit or loss category or (if it had not
been designated as available for sale) may be classified out of
the available-for-sale category to the loans and receivables
category if the entity has the intention and ability to hold it for
the foreseeable future or until maturity.

In rare circumstances, financial assets that are not eligible
for classification as loans and receivables may be transferred
from the held-for-trading category to the available-for-sale
category or to the held-to-maturity category (in the case of a
debt instrument), if the financial asset is no longer held for the
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS M5

2.2 IMPACT OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(0

62 Linmark Group Limited

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement and IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures — Reclassification of Financial
Assets (Continued)

The financial asset shall be reclassified at its fair value on
the date of reclassification and the fair value of the financial
asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or
amortised cost, as applicable. The amendments to IFRS 7 require
extensive disclosures of any financial asset reclassified in the
situations described above. The amendments are effective from
1 July 2008.

As the Group has not reclassified any of its financial instruments,
the amendments have had no impact on the financial position
or results of operations of the Group.

IFRIC-Int 12 Service Concession Arrangements

IFRIC-Int 12 applies to service concession operators and explains
how to account for the obligation undertaken and the rights
received in service concession arrangements. No member of
the Group is an operator and, therefore, this interpretation has
had no impact on the financial position or results of operations
of the Group.

IFRIC-Int 14 and IAS 19 - The Limit on a Defined
Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and
their Interaction

IFRIC-Int 14 addresses how to assess the limit under IAS 19
Employee Benefits, on the amount of a refund or a reduction
in future contributions in relation to a defined benefit scheme
that can be recognised as an asset, including situations
when a minimum funding requirement exists. As the Group's
defined benefit scheme does not have a minimum funding
requirement, the interpretation has had no effect on these
financial statements.

annual report 2009
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2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL

STANDARDS

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs and
new IFRIC-Int, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

[FRS 1 (Revised)

IFRS 1 and IAS 27
Amendments

IFRS 2 Amendments

[FRS 3 (Revised)

IFRS 7 Amendments

IFRS 8

IAS 1 (Revised)
IAS 23 (Revised)
IAS 27 (Revised)

IAS 32 and IAS 1

Amendments

IAS 39 Amendments

IFRIC-Int 9 and IAS 39
Amendments

[FRIC-Int 13

[FRIC-Int 15

[FRIC-Int 16

[FRIC-Int 17

[FRIC-Int 18

First-time Adoption of IFRSs?

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time
Adoption of IFRSs and IAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements - Cost of an Investment in
a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity
or Associate’

Amendments to IFRS 2 Share-based
Payment - Vesting Conditions and
Cancellations’

Business Combinations?

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures - Improving
Disclosures about Financial
Instruments’

Operating Segments’

Presentation of Financial Statements’
Borrowing Costs’

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements?

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and IAS 1
Presentation of Financial Statements -
Puttable Financial Instruments and
Obligations Arising on Liquidation’

Amendments to IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items?

Amendments to IFRIC-Int 9 Reassessment
of Embedded Derivatives and
IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement -
Embedded Derivatives®

Customer Loyalty Programmes?®
Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate’

Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
Operation*

Distribution of Non-cash Assets to
Owners?

Transfers of Assets from Customers®
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS M5

2.3 IMPACT OF ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Apart from the above, the IASB has issued /Improvements to IFRSs*
which sets out amendments to a number of IFRSs primarily with a
view to remove inconsistencies and clarify wording. Amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2009, although there are separate transitional provisions for each
standard.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October 2008

Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009

Effective for transfers of assets from customers received on or after 1 July 2009

[ B e O R N

*

Improvements to IFRSs contain amendments to IFRS 2, IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 1, IAS
7, 1AS 8, IAS 10, IAS 16, IAS 17, IAS 18, IAS 19, IAS 20, IAS 23, IAS 27, IAS 28, IAS
29, IAS 31, 1AS 34, IAS 36, IAS 38, IAS 39, IAS 40, IAS 41, IFRIC-Int 9 and IFRIC-Int
16.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact
of these new and revised IFRSs upon initial application. So far, it has
concluded that while the adoption of IFRS 8 and IAS 1 (Revised) may
result in new or amended disclosures and the adoption of IFRS 3
(Revised), IAS 27 (Revised) and IAS 23 (Revised) may result in changes
in accounting policies, these new and revised IFRSs are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group's results of operations and
financial position.

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies the
Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company's income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable. The
Company's investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less any
impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic activity.
The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which the Group
and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates the
capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration of the
joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be realised
upon its dissolution. The profits and losses from the joint venture's
operations and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the
venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital contributions,
or in accordance with the terms of the joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) ajointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have unilateral
control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly, over the joint
venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less than
20% of the joint venture's registered capital and is in a position
to exercise significant influence over the joint venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with IAS 39,
if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less than 20% of the
joint venture's registered capital and has neither joint control
of, nor is in a position to exercise significant influence over, the
joint venture.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B RS HRE M5E

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FE2:HFEME o

POLICIES (Continued)

Jointly-controlled entity

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint
control, resulting in none of the participating parties having unilateral
control over the economic activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group's interest in a jointly-controlled entity is stated in the
consolidated balance sheet at the Group's share of net assets under
the equity method of accounting, less any impairment losses. The
Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of the
jointly-controlled entity is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains
and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and its
jointly-controlled entity are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the jointly-controlled entity, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.

The result of a jointly-controlled entity is included in the Company's
income statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company's investment in a jointly-controlled entity is treated as
non-current asset and is stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents the
excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group's
interest in the net fair value of the acquirees' identifiable assets
acquired, and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed as at the
date of acquisition.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet as an asset, initially measured at cost and subsequently
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

The carrying amount of goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 30 April. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is
disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is
included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of
in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax
assets, financial assets and goodwill), the asset's recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset's or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the
asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. An
impairment loss is charged to the income statement in the period in
which it arises.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there
is any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior years. A reversal of such impairment loss is credited to the
income statement in the period in which it arises.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(b)

(d)

(e)

(f)

the party, directly or indirectly through one or more
intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled by, or is under common
control with, the Group; (i) has an interest in the Group that
gives it significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has joint
control over the Group;

the party is an associate;

the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or its parent;

the party is a close member of the family of any individual
referred to in (a) or (d);

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly-controlled or
significantly influenced by or for which significant voting power
in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
the employees of the Group, or of any entity that is a related
party of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation,
such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the income
statement in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in
an increase in the future economic benefits expected to be obtained
from the use of an item of property, plant and equipment, and where
the cost of the item can be measured reliably, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of that asset or as a replacement.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of 5 years or
the lease terms
Furniture and fixtures 3 to 5 years

Yacht and motor vehicles 5 to 10 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable
basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each balance sheet date.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in the income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the relevant asset.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FE2:HFEME o

POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each balance
sheet date.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.

Patents and trademarks

Purchased patents and trademarks have indefinite useful lives and
are stated at cost less any impairment losses. They are tested for
impairment at least annually.

Deferred expenditure

Deferred expenditure represents amount incurred for renewing a
buying agency agreement and is stated at cost less any impairment
losses and is amortised using the straight-line basis over the three-
year period of the buying agency agreement.

Licence rights

Licence rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses and are amortised using the straight-line
basis over the licence period. They are initially measured as the fair
value of the consideration given to acquire the licence at the time
of the acquisition, which represents the capitalised present values
of the fixed minimum periodic payments to be made in subsequent
periods.

Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating leases.
Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases
are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis over
the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and
available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus,
in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group assesses whether a contract contains an embedded
derivative when the Group first becomes a party to it and assesses
whether an embedded derivative is required to be separated from
the host contract when the analysis shows that the economic
characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely
related to those of the host contract. Reassessment only occurs if
there is a change in the terms of the contract that significantly
modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required under the
contract.

The Group determines the classification of its financial assets after
initial recognition and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates
this designation at the balance sheet date.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to
purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such
assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate and transaction costs. Gains and losses are recognised in the
income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised
or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 FE2:HFEME o

POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets
that are designated as available for sale or are not classified in any
of the other two categories. After initial recognition, available-for-
sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with gains or losses
recognised as a separate component of equity until the investment is
derecognised or until the investment is determined to be impaired, at
which time the cumulative gain or loss previously reported in equity is
included in the income statement. Interest and dividends earned are
reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the income statement as "Other income" in accordance
with the policies set out for "Revenue recognition” below. Losses
arising from the impairment of such investments are recognised in
the income statement as “Impairment losses on available-for-sale
financial assets" and are transferred from the available-for-sale

investment revaluation reserve.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot be reliably
measured because (a) the variability in the range of reasonable
fair value estimates is significant for that investment or (b) the
probabilities of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value, such securities
are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

Fair value

The fair value of investments that are actively traded in organised
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market
bid prices at the close of business at the balance sheet date. For
investments where there is no active market, fair value is determined
using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent
arm's length market transactions; reference to the current market
value of another instrument which is substantially the same, and a
discounted cash flow analysis.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any
objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets

is impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans
and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate
(i.e., the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). The
carrying amount of the asset is reduced either directly or through
the use of an allowance account. The amount of the impairment
loss is recognised in the income statement. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when there is
no realistic prospect of future recovery.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance
account. Any subsequent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
in the income statement, to the extent that the carrying value of the
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

In relation to trade and other receivables, a provision for impairment
is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability
of insolvency or significant financial difficulties of the debtor and
significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor) that the
Group will not be able to collect all of the amounts due under the
original terms of an invoice. The carrying amount of the receivables
is reduced through the use of an allowance account. Impaired debts
are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the income statement, is
transferred from equity to the income statement. A provision for
impairment is made for available-for-sale equity investments when
there has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value
below its cost or where other objective evidence of impairment exists.
The determination of what is "significant” or "prolonged"” requires
judgement. In addition, the Group evaluates other factors, such as
the share price volatility. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the income
statement.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised where:

[ the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

e the Group retains the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, but has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
without material delay to a third party under a "pass-through”
arrangement; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset and either (a) has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset and has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form
of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount
of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or
purchased option (including a cash-settled option or similar provision)
on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group
may repurchase, except in the case of a written put option (including
a cash-settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured at
fair value, where the extent of the Group's continuing involvement
is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and
the option exercise price.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (including interest-
bearing loans and borrowings)

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, interest-
bearing bank borrowings, consideration payable for acquisitions of
subsidiaries and dividend payable to a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary are initially stated at fair value less directly attributable
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. The related
interest expense is recognised within “Finance costs" in the income
statement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation
process.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts in the scope of IAS 39 are accounted
for as financial liabilities. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial guarantee
contract, except when such contract is recognised at fair value
through profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the balance sheet date; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation
recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income statement.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24T EEHBEME 0

POLICIES (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and
short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months
when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the balance sheets, cash and cash equivalents
comprise cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the balance sheet date of the
future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
The increase in the discounted present value amount arising from
the passage of time is included in "Finance costs" in the income
statement.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on certain
products are recognised based on sales volume and past experience
of the level of repairs and returns, discounted to their present values
as appropriate.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognised in the income statement, or in equity if it relates to
items that are recognised in the same or a different period directly
in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are
measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the taxation authorities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° where the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill or the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries and interests in joint ventures, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

24 TESHBERBE @

FRB® (&)

ELERANRAREE  HNEEREERA
BZAREEREAREE L —EREZEL
FATS ERIRIE A -

BB IBR BN — VIRV E B =8 T AR
R BRATNER ¢

e HRBERBANIXZBAHXZTHERE
ELBE (RRXZHELTZESTHEN X
FERBUG N EE) EL ZBEEHIRA
& &

e HBARKEELRZESABIER
BERZRE  ERDEREZE KRN
EH R EREZENA SR TR OER
AN o

PIBRA THIRERZ8  APAHRERESE
KRB R IE B RN Al e B S ERTUa ME A
i UBRAREN THRERER KA
MREALEERARBAHABEZBERLT - 5
R REERIAEE @ FA TBR

° BARARIEBEHXHTHAZEELR
B (R ZEL TR EG RN HER
m M SRR ) FTEE A 2 W] T AR B B = RR
ZELEBRBEE + ]k

s HMEMBAR BMEARZRERAGED
R BRZA THRERZE 1R
TR ZRRS AR R RREE KA A ER
BmAESIE - ABREREZEZBEN
T AEREEHAEE -

—ETNFFHR MEKEERAR 77



Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Conversely, previously unrecognised
deferred tax assets are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset
to be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity
and the same taxation authority.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sales of merchandise, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) commission income, when the underlying goods procured by the
Group are shipped;

(c) from the rendering of services, reimbursement income from
customers, handling fee income and inspection and laboratory
testing income, when the services are rendered; and

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form
of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments ("equity-settled
transactions").

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured
by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted.
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any
performance conditions, other than conditions linked to the price of
the shares of the Company ("market conditions") if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date
on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award
(the "vesting date"). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at each balance sheet date until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will
ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement for a
period represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised
as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not
the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification,
which increases the total fair value of the share-based payment
arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured
at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and
new awards are treated as if they were a modification of the original
award, as described in the previous paragraph. The dilutive effect of
outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)
Other employee benefits

(a)

80 Linmark Group Limited

Pension schemes

Defined contribution pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme") under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees'
basic salaries and are charged to the income statement as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 15% to 20% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to the income statement as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Defined benefit pension scheme

The Group operates a defined benefit pension plan, which
requires contributions to be made to a separately administered
fund, for those employees who are eligible to participate in the
scheme. The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit
plan is determined separately using the projected unit credit
valuation method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised
as income or expense when the net cumulative unrecognised
actuarial gains and losses at the end of the previous reporting
year exceed 10% of the higher of the defined benefit obligation
and the fair value of plan assets at the date. These gains and
losses are recognised over the expected average remaining
working lives of the employees participating in the plan.

Past service cost is recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the average period until the benefits become vested.
If the benefits vest immediately following the introduction of,
or changes to, a pension plan, the past service cost is recognised
immediately.

annual report 2009
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)

(a)

()

(c)

Pension schemes (Continued)

Defined benefit pension scheme (Continued)

The defined benefit asset or liability comprises the present
value of the defined benefit obligation less past service cost
not yet recognised and less the fair value of plan assets out
of which the obligations are to be settled directly. The value of
any asset is restricted to the sum of any past service cost not
yet recognised and the present value of any economic benefits
available in the form of refunds from the plan or reductions in
future contributions to the plan.

An actuarial estimate is made by a professionally qualified
independent actuary, using the projected unit credit actuarial
valuation method, of the present value of the Group's future
defined benefit obligation under the defined benefit pension
plan earned by the employees as at the balance sheet date.

Employee leave entitlements

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as at
the balance sheet date is permitted to be carried forward and
utilised by the respective employees in the following year. An
accrual is made at the balance sheet date for the expected future
cost of such paid leave earned during the year by the employees
and carried forward.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date or whenever an
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is
demonstrably committed to either: terminating the employment
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan
without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary
redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
balance sheet date are discounted to their present value.

24 TESHBERBE @)

HitbBEEF (50

(a)

()

(c)

BUKEETE (&)

REEMENRE T (&)
RERMNEESAEREACRMNETZ
BER R AR TERZ BERGHA - ja/m%iﬂ
RABERBETZEEZAEEEZR
8- Eﬂ;ﬁ?z{?‘ifﬁ{%ﬁﬁﬁ“ﬁﬂiﬁEwﬂE
AR 765 PR AN B DA G B3R SR KOR SR S BOR
AR AT 2 B R s BB 2 A8 A o

BE G BB XS AR B I EERBE
BREERZA 2 AERIRKEEZ1E
TAREERRAERFEFE 2B EATER
B EEREMEEED -

BIREEF
$EI$ETF4EE\Q%’]&T¢ ERHES
RUEBHFFER - RETHERT R&EER
MDA Z FRAFF#EE - a’aj?—irﬁﬁéﬁé\
RREZR - RAFERREZTHEREE

ZEHBEAZEHRAEKAREERR
EIG

REBLE T

BEBRAR A DB B IE R R K B BRI 4R 1k
BA EEERXAREANERIULSE
BRI AT - REERNERRAR 1R
BRI HEZFEEAGERIERE
BEZER : kiR —H2OUREE
FRIE AU 4R (A% 143 M B RE SR BB AR ) o
REERREB T —EA BN 2 BH
eMREHRE-

—ETNFEFHR MES



Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 FXFESHHFEME »)

POLICIES (Continued)

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a separate
allocation of retained profits within the equity section of the balance
sheet, until they have been approved by the shareholders in a
general meeting. When these dividends have been approved by the
shareholders and declared, they are recognised as a liability.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because
the Company's memorandum and bye-laws grant the directors
the authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim
dividends are recognised immediately as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in United States dollars,
which is the Company's functional and presentation currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are
initially recorded using the functional currency rates ruling at the
date of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken
to the income statement. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and jointly-
controlled entities are currencies other than the United States
dollar. As at the balance sheet date, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date, and
their income statements are translated into United States dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are included in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign entity, the deferred cumulative amount
recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, the cash
flows of overseas subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity are
translated into United States dollars at the exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries and a jointly-controlled entity which arise
throughout the year are translated into United States dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the reporting
date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Useful lives of intangible assets (other than goodwill)

The Group's management determines the estimated useful lives and
consequently related amortisation rate (if any) for its intangible
assets (other than goodwill). These estimates are based on the
historical experience of the actual useful lives of intangible assets
of similar nature and functions. Actual economic lives may differ
from the estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a
change in amortisable lives and consequently increase or decrease
in amortisation expenses in future periods. The carrying amount
of intangible assets as at 30 April 2009 was US$156,000 (2008:
US$13,890,000).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating
the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating units and also
to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 30
April 2009 was US$26,333,000 (2008: US$29,333,000). More details
are given in Note 16 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment
for all non-financial assets at each reporting date. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at other
times when such indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. When value in use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. More details are given in Note 16 to the financial statements.

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could change
significantly as a result of changes in economic conditions in places
where the Group operates, changes in customer taste and competitor
actions in response to change in market conditions. Management
reassesses these estimates at each balance sheet date. The carrying
amount of inventories as at 30 April 2009 was US$2,440,000 (2008:
US$13,030,000).

Trade receivables

The Group's management determines the provision for impairment
of trade receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability of
the receivables. This assessment is based on the credit history of its
customers and other debtors and the current market condition which
requires the use of judgements and estimates. When the expectation
on the recoverability of trade receivables is different from the original
estimates, such difference will impact the carrying value of trade
receivables and impairment provisions in the periods in which such
estimate has been changed. Management assesses the provision at
each balance sheet date. The carrying amount of trade receivables as
at 30 April 2009 was US$18,239,000 (2008: US$21,428,000). More
details are given in Note 22 to the financial statements.

Income tax and deferred tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the amount of the
provision for tax and the timing of payment of the related taxes.
There are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact on
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which
such determination is made. The carrying amount of deferred tax
assets as at 30 April 2009 was US$86,000 (2008: US$1,221,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses carried
forward to the extent that it is probable (i.e., more likely than not)
that future taxable profits will be available against which the unused
tax losses can be utilised, based on all available evidence. Recognition
primarily involves judgement regarding the future performance of the
particular legal entity or tax group in which the deferred tax asset
has been recognised. A variety of other factors are also evaluated in
considering whether there is convincing evidence that it is probable
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be
realised, such as the existence of taxable temporary differences, tax
planning strategies and the periods in which estimated tax losses can
be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets and related
financial models and budgets are reviewed at each balance sheet date
and to the extent that there is insufficient convincing evidence that
sufficient taxable profits will be available within the utilisation periods
to allow utilisation of the tax losses carried forward, the asset balance
will be reduced and charged to the income statement.

Impairment of an available-for-sale financial asset

The Group classifies certain asset as available-for-sale and recognises
movements of its fair value in equity. When the fair value declines,
management makes assumptions about the decline in value to
determine whether there is an impairment that should be recognised
in the income statement. At 30 April 2009, no impairment losses have
been recognised for the Group's available-for-sale asset (2008: Nil).
The carrying amount of the available-for-sale asset was approximately
US$84,000 (2008: US$84,000). More details are given in Note 17 to
the financial statements.

Warranty provision

Warranty provision is based on the estimated cost of product
warranties when revenue is recognised. Factors that affect the Group's
warranty liability include the number of sold units currently under
warranty, historical and anticipated rebates of warranty claims on
those units, and cost per claim to satisfy the warranty obligation.
The estimation basis is reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised
where appropriate. The carrying amount of warranty provision as
at the balance sheet date was approximately US$1,154,000 (2008:
US$9,365,000).
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Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information is presented by way of two segment formats: (i)
on a primary segment reporting basis, by business segment; and (ii) on
a secondary segment reporting basis, by geographical segment.

The Group's operating businesses are structured and managed
separately according to the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provide. Each of the Group's business
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers products
and services which are subject to risks and returns that are different
from those of the other business segments. Summary details of the
business segments are as follows:

(a) sales of merchandise including garments, labels and consumer
electronic products; and

(b)  provision of services including procurement service and value-
added services relating to the procurement agency business.

In determining the Group's geographical segments, revenues are
attributed to the segments based on the location of the customers,
and assets are attributed to the segments based on the location of the
assets. Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4,

(a) Business segments

PHEER @

(a) EXoHE
TRBIBE-_EENER-_TEN\EN
A=+ BLEEAERRLELEHE2 K
= mn (R RETEE: BfER

The following tables present revenue, profit/(loss) and certain
asset, liability and expenditure information for the Group's
business segments for the years ended 30 April 2009 and

2008. B o
Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total
BmiHE R R &5t
Year ended 30 April 2009 BE-ZZhF
A=tBLEE US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FTERT FER FER
Segment revenue: ok
Revenue from external customers REINAEFE 2 W 175,204 20,558 195,762
Segment results a1 3,184 1,842 5,026
Impairment loss on goodwill [EEEAEY g = (3,000) (3,000)
Impairment loss on patents and =2 R R EEE
trademarks (10,137) - (10,137)
Restructuring costs EHEHA (1,719)
Interest income FEHA 149
Finance costs B8 (52)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled  fE{h—5R kR 4| & 42
entity 218 (4)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE KB AR 2 W 102
Corporate and other unallocated PEREMADEEREZ
expenses (550)
Loss before tax MrFi R AR (10,185)
Tax ] (2,069)
Loss for the year FEEE (12,254)
Assets and liabilities EEREE
Segment assets DEEE 55,377 21,902 77,279
Investment in a jointly-controlled R—RERZEHEE 2
entity wE 19
Deferred tax assets RIEFIEE E 86
Corporate and other unallocated assets 1% & E fth & 7 Bt B & 2,320
Total assets BERE 79,704
Segment liabilities DERE 27,684 10,850 38,534
Tax payable FER IR 2,143
Corporate and other unallocated assets 1% & E fth &k 75 it B & 25
Total liabilities BB 40,702
Other segment information: Hihp@|EHR :
Depreciation e 868 592 1,460
Amortisation of intangible assets A ERE 127 1,005 1,132
Capital expenditures BARFX 63 212 275
Impairment of trade receivables FEWE 5 BRFORE 545 419 964
Product warranty provision EmiRBEE 3,903 = 3,903
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4,

(a) Business segments (Continued)

PEER @
(a) %%58E (®)

Sales of Provision
merchandise of services Total
B miHE 2 AR &5t
Year ended 30 April 2008 HEZTT)\F
MA=+HIEFE US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
F=1 F=x F=7
Segment revenue: ok
Revenue from external customers REIIAT P 2 Wk 272,006 17,701 289,707
Segment results PEER (5,069) (1.851) (6.920)
Impairment loss on goodwill [EEEAEY g = (3,000) (3,000)
Impairment loss on patents and =2 R R EEE
trademarks (10,254) - (10,254)
Interest income FEWA 598
Finance costs 7% & (418)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled G —RAREGIEE
entity 2 B8 (45)
Corporate and other unallocated ERAEMAKDERAZ
expenses (743)
Loss before tax BB RTE B (20,782)
Tax T8 365
Loss for the year FEEE (20,417)
Assets and liabilities EERAEE
Segment assets SDEEE 81,901 18,144 100,045
Investment in a jointly-controlled R—RERZEHEEZ
entity ®E 23
Deferred tax assets BRI E E 1,221
Corporate and other unallocated assets 13 & E Aty R D AR & &= 2,340
Total assets BEHBE 103,629
Segment liabilities SEEE 40,074 7,943 48,017
Tax payable FEN IR 1,786
Corporate and other unallocated assets {3 & Hth ok Fd &2 1,308
Total liabilities BiEEzE 51,111
Other segment information: HthpEER :
Depreciation e 1,014 701 1,715
Amortisation of intangible assets A EE 154 1,004 1,158
Capital expenditures BEARRET 240 750 990
Impairment of trade receivables JEWE 5 BRFURE 145 498 643
Product warranty provision EmiR ARG 23,600 - 23,600
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. DEER @

(b) Geographical segments (b) HiE o3
The following tables present revenue and certain asset and TREINEEZZZFZNER T /)\FH
expenditure information for the Group's geographical segments B =18 IEFEARE BRI D 8 2 WS
for the years ended 30 April 2009 and 2008. ERETEERMASER -
Revenue Total assets Capital expenditures
W BELHE NEE
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

“REAE CZTT/\F CRRAF ZTTN\F ZBRAF ZTT/\F
US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000
TR TET FTER e TR TEL

Europe B 98,954 187904 13302 39,409 2 69
Australia BN 37,140 39,240 - - - -
Africa e 22,001 21,597 7 10 - -
North America JEEN 16,232 17,491 = = = =
Hong Kong aF 2,753 5,369 63,661 61,427 164 839
QOthers Hif 18,682 18,106 2,734 2,783 109 82
195,762 289,707 79,704 103,629 275 990
5. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. WaEkHEAMYA
Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the net AREBZWRDAREELERE  NIEEHE
invoiced value of goods sold, after allowances for returns and trade mRERENRESINEG 2BEEFEE HERA
discounts; commission income and the value of services rendered. RiREREHEE -
An analysis of revenue and other income is as follows: Was REMBAZITAT :
2009 2008
—EThE —ZTEN\EF
us$'o00 Us$'000
Fxx FET
Revenue g
Sales of merchandise EmiHE 175,204 272,006
Commission income A ON 20,285 17,243
Rendering of services RS 273 458
195,762 289,707
Other income Hiug A
Bank interest income ERITH BWA 149 598
Reimbursement income from customers REEFHERIKA 67 324
Handling fee income FEERA 714 999
Inspecting and laboratory test income % & B B = ORI A 404 346
Others Efib 661 925
1,995 3,192
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B s BT =
6. LOSS BEFORE TAX 6. REAIEE
The Group's loss before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): REB 7 BIFHABER MG (Gt A) LT
I8 :
2009 2008
—EZNEF —ZTEN\F
Note USs$'000 US$'000
B =E TEx FEx
Cost of inventories sold BEEFE 2K 149,289 222,522
Cost of services provided EIRH RS 2 A 10,534 37,587
- including product warranty expenses — BEERRBRX 28 3,903 23,600
Depreciation e 15 1,460 1,715
Amortisation of intangible assets T4 i 16 1,132 1,158
Minimum lease payments under operating KEMHETRELCEHENR
leases:
Plant and machinery = i Es 172 71
Office premises and staff quarters MAEBMNNETIRFE 1,729 1,675
1,901 1,746
Auditors' remuneration ZHEN N & 426 515
Employee benefit expense (including EERFFAS (BREESMHE
directors' remuneration - Note 9): — BFEE9) -
Salaries, bonuses and allowances e - fEA N ERL 18,353 21,571
Staff welfare and benefits B TaA kAzk 2,229 1,980
Equity-settled share option expense IR EE B ER Y 171 236
Pension scheme contributions” EAIFT B
- defined contribution schemes — EREHRETE 324 512
- defined benefit plan — EFEENEE 174 34
21,251 24,333
Foreign exchange differences, net X ZRRFE 522 (545)
Impairment of trade receivables U E ZERFCRE 22 964 643
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWME - BEMREEE 268
plant and equipment 49 2
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHB A F 35 (102) -
At 30 April 2009, the Group had no forfeited contributions available to reduce its . R-ZETZNFMA=+H & REBFTEEAZRIK
contributions to the pension schemes in future years (2008: Nil). BRSHR AR ER (ZEENE - ) o

7. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES ON PATENTS AND 7. EfREEREERAEEE
TRADEMARKS AND GOODWILL

During the year under review, the Group recognised an impairment REEEER: NEE AR T % A600%E
charge of US$10,137,000 (2008: US$10,254,000) in connection % 2 Bt B A &Dowry Peacock Group Limited
with patents and trademarks of Dowry Peacock Group Limited (IDowry Peacock]) 2 B F| & 12 #E 32 ol B X
("Dowry Peacock”), a 60% owned subsidiary of the Company, and an 110,137,000 7T (= & T J\ £F : 10,254,000
impairment charge of US$3,000,000 (2008: US$3,000,000) on goodwill JT) 0 WA R ZEEMEAFISO International
of 1SO International (Holdings) Limited, a 100% owned subsidiary (Holdings) Limited Z P2 &2 B S 3,000,000
of the Company. The charges are made based on the results of Z70 (ZZTZ )\ 4 : 3,000,000 7C) ° ZEX H
impairment tests for the patents and trademarks and goodwill using TR 2t ER| FE3esEFMEFERF 2 EE
their value in use in accordance with IAS 36. FrET BN REEREEZ BER S &R
fEH ©
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MIKER
Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EThE —ZTTN\F
Us$'o000 US$'000
SFEEE FET
Interest on bank loans, overdrafts and other BRAFANEHEEZRITER
loans wholly repayable within five years FEYREMERZFE 52 418
9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 9. EEFMH

Directors' remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the Listing

Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as

AEERE ETRARES AT EGIZ 61 A
THEZEEFMOT -

follows:
Group
AEE
2009 2008
—EThEF —ZTTN\F
us$'oo0 Us$'000
FEx FET
Fees we 166 161
Other emoluments: Hiie :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMEEYFE 1,321 1,086
Performance related bonus FIFBMRTEAT 67 75
Employee share option benefits & B AT A 84 91
Pension scheme contributions RIS ET S 51 78
1,523 1,330
1,689 1,491
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B TSRS MY R

9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

During the year, certain directors were granted share options in
respect of their services to the Group, under the share option scheme
of the Company, further details of which are set out in Note 33 to
the financial statements. The fair value of such options which has
been recognised in the income statement over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in
the financial statements for the current year is included in the above

directors' remuneration disclosures.

9. EEHM »
ER ETEEDRREAAEBAIRLR R
WRBAA TSRS BIET 2 AR - & —
FHEERR IS RSN 3 - REBBIEY
FEBEDREL ST YERBBHAE

W RNER -

Mt AR FERBEREZ S

NEBEREXZEEZFHMBER

The emoluments of each director are set out below: BEES MEEHWNT -
Salaries, Employee
allowances Performance share Pension
and benefits related option scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus benefits contributions remuneration
-4 5B [EERRE EHeHE
e REWMAZ  HHREA &7 % b))
Year ended 30 April 2009 HE-ZZAEMA=TA
LEE Us$'000 Us$'oo0 Us$'o00 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET  FER  TER  TER  FER TR
Executive directors: HTES:
WANG Lu Yen TiE - 354 - - 10 364
Michel BOURLON (i) Michel BOURLON (i) - 195 67 12 15 289
KHOO Kim Cheng il - 100 - 22 5 127
Peter Loris SOLOMON (i) Peter Loris SOLOMON (ii) - 672 - 42 21 735
Non-executive directors: FHTES :
WONG Wai Ming =EH 33 - - 4 - 37
Mark HSU ey 62 33 - - - - 33
Independent non-executive directors: B FHTES :
WANG Arthur Minshiang Fo 33 - - 2 - 35
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius HHET 33 - - 2 - 35
Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS (iii) Jakob Jacobus Koert
TULLENERS (i) 33 - - - - 33
KWOK Tai Ki (viii) B viii) 1 - - - - 1
166 1,321 67 84 51 1,689
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DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EEHFM o

Salaries, Employee
allowances  Performance share Pension
and benefits related option scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus benefits contributions remuneration
5o 28 5 EERRE RS
e REWAR B4 il R B
Year ended 30 April 2008 HE-ZZ/\fMA=1H
JIR:35 US$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
S S FET TEx FEr Txr
Executive directors: HTES:
WANG Lu Yen THE - 349 - - 10 359
Peter Loris SOLOMON (ii) Peter Loris SOLOMON (i) - 631 75 52 63 821
KHOO Kim Cheng it - 100 - 28 5 133
FU Jin Ming, Patrick (iv) B (v) = = = = = =
Non-executive directors: FHTES
WONG Wai Ming L 28 6 - 5 - 39
Gregory Scott LEONG (v) ZHE () 17 - - - = 17
Mark HSU (vi) R0 (vi) 1 - - - - 1
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTES :
WANG Arthur Minshiang T 33 - - 3 - 36
TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius SET 33 - - 3 - 36
WOON Yi Teng, Eden (vii) FLAE (vii 1 - - - - 1
KWOK Tai Ki (vii) HRA (vil) 28 - - - - 28
161 1,086 75 91 78 1,491
Notes: BeE -
(i)~ Mr. Michel BOURLON was appointed an executive director with effect from 12 ()  Michel BOURLONEEBZERMITESE - H=FF
January 2009. NE—A+ZBRBEK-
(i) Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON resigned with effect from 1 August 2008. (i) Peter Loris SOLOMONEAE&E * A= T /\FN
A—BRBER -
(iii)  Mr. Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS was appointed an independent non-executive (iii)  Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERSSE AMEZEE AL IE
director with effect from 5 May 2008. HITEE AT\ FRARABER -
(i) Mr. FU Jin Ming, Patrick retired with effect from 5 July 2007. (iv) Eﬁrf&tﬁﬂ FEBERNK BT LFLARARAE
2 o
(v Mr. Gregory Scott LEONG was appointed a non-executive director with effect from (v FHREEBZERFNTES A_FTTLFL
5 July 2007 and then resigned with effect from 4 January 2008. AR iﬂi@l CBERHEEBTH-ZEZT/N\F—ANH
RBAER ©
(vi)  Mr. Mark HSU was appointed a non-executive director with effect from 4 January (vi) BEHLEBRZEEIENTES AT )\F—
2008. A HBER -
(vii)  Dr. WOON Yi Teng, Eden resigned with effect from 31 August 2007. (vii) %tﬁi&-ﬁﬁtaéiﬁ CH-_ETEFNA=ZT—HBE
BB o
(viii)  Mr. KWOK Tai Ki was appointed an independent non-executive director with effect (vii) FREEERZERBUIENTES BTt

from 5 July 2007 and then resigned with effect from 5 May 2008.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed
to waive any remuneration during the year (2008: Nil).

During the year ended 30 April 2009, an emolument of US$67,000 was
paid to Mr. Michel BOURLON and as at 30 April 2009, an emolument
of US$133,000 was receivable by Mr. Bourlon as inducement to join
the Group (2008: Nil).

FLARHREN  BEREBER-"FTTN\FLA
hARER -

FAREZSERNEXRERETANSHOLTHE
(ZBZENF &) -

Z_PEAFMASTALFE  ER

Michel BOURLONZt 4 32 167,000 T € + KA
—ZETANFEM A =+ HBourlonst 4 fE W ENEN &
133,000 TIEAEMBEAEE 2 #E) (=T F

NEF

D) e
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10.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

Pursuant to an offer letter dated 4 November 2008 from RGS Holdings
Limited (“RGS"), a controlling shareholder of the Company, to Mr.
Michel BOURLON, in consideration of Mr. Bourlon entering into an
employment agreement with the Company for his employment as the
chief executive officer and executive director of the Company, RGS
had agreed to grant options to Mr. Bourlon to purchase from RGS up
to 6,500,000 ordinary shares of the Company subject to and upon the
terms and conditions stated therein. As at 30 April 2009, Mr. Bourlon
had exercised his options to acquire 2,166,666 shares of the Company
from RGS, while options to acquire 4,333,334 shares of the Company
from RGS remained outstanding.

Save as disclosed above, during the year ended 30 April 2009, no
emolument was paid to or receivable by any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office (2008: Nil)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2008:
two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 9
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining two (2008: three)

9. EEHFM o

R ¥ A A 7] ¥ A% % BRGS Holdings Limited
(IRGSJ) BMichel BOURLON% A& 2 BHI A -
ZNF+—AWOBZEL KM - {EHBourlonst
AR ERARNRTIRARFRNITE B EAN
ARG ZEEHZEZRE RCGSERERT
Bourlon%t 4 & % # LA B RGSUX #E i 256,500,000
RE AR A B ERAY - HEZR Y ST X K BT SR TR &

G- RZZZNEFEMA

=+H - Bourlonfc &

BT H BRI HE B RGSUBE2,166,666/% A A &A%
17 &8 A {ERGSUK BB 4,333,334 AN A Al i 19

ZRBBAERITE ©

BREXFHEEN  REBE_ZETNAFHA=
THLESE  YERTAEEINHENHS
1 A L 0 B2 37 B2 A R [ B 2 R SR 1R A B
BHEE (CETNF:E) -

10. AV RS HMES

FRARAURRFHEER

BE=M(ZZTZEN

M) BE 0 EMFEEN L -
FA - EBmA (ZTTN\EF - =) RESFHM

non-director, highest paid employees for the year are as follows: RIEEZREMNEFMFBOT «

Group

rEH
2009 2008
—EThE —ZT)\F
US$'000 US$'000
FERT T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e o 2B NREMH R 664 782
Performance related bonus TR E RS - 126
Employee share option benefits & B AR EN =R 18 32
Pension scheme contributions RIRETEIHER 17 19
699 959

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following bands presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$") is as follows:

e AETT25)) BIA N EE M &= 5 a3

EZREABIT :

Number of employees

EE A

2009 2008

ZEEAF ZETNF
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 (equivalent to 1,500,001/ 7T 2 2,000,000/ 7T

US$192,802 to US$257,069) (FHEE7192,8025 T 2 257,069% 7T ) = 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 (equivalent to 2,000,001,% 7T 23,000,000/ 7T

US$257,070 to US$385,604) (FB5 M 257,0705 T 2 385,6043 7T ) 1 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 (equivalent to 3,000,001 7T % 3,500,000/ 7T

US$385,605 to US$449,871) (HBS5174385,6055 T 449,871 7T) 1 1

2 3

Saved as disclosed in Note 9 above, during the year ended 30 April B EXH M BEEN  RBE _TTNF

2009, no emolument was paid to or receivable by any of the five
highest paid employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office (2008: Nil).
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11.TAX 11
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2008:
17.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
during the year. The lower Hong Kong profits tax rate is effective
from the year of assessment 2008/2009, and so is applicable to the
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for the whole year ended 30
April 2009. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates, based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices
in respect thereof.

HRIE

EBFFHIRFERNERBE LGRS
FILA16.500 (ZZTZT)\F @ 17.50) AT EFHEE
# REFBFEHREE =TT N\ =ZZZ

THEEER  BEARBZE_STNFNA
= +HLIEEAFEERBEEZ ERTAF -
HAth b [ 7 FE SR B B R IE RIAR IR AN SR [ 8
FIEERRIRITES RBRE - REHIE
IBEGE -

2009 2008
—EZhEF —ETNF
US$'000 US$'000
St FET

Current - Hong Kong BNER — B
Charge for the year REERRXZ 1,008 816
Current - Elsewhere BNVER — Efthith (= 72 110
Underprovision in prior years BEFERETR 38 65
Deferred (Note 20) RAERIIE (FEE20) 951 (1,356)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year RNEEFHRERY (BKR) 25 2,069 (365)

A reconciliation of the tax position applicable to loss before tax using
the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax position at
the effective tax rate is as follows:

BAREAATREXZHN B A B FE A
R YA TE T R AT ERBR TR AT B 1B A B A5 AR
B ERREFENB SRR OEIRAT

2009 2008
—EZNEF ZETNF
USs$'o000 Us$'000
FER FET
Loss before tax BRA% AT ES 1R (10,185) (20,782)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% 1£16.5000),% E R HHFIE
(2008: 17.50%) ZTT)N\EF 1 17.5%) (1.681) (3,637)
Effect on opening deferred tax of decrease T R SRR HA R R TE R s 22
in rates 68 =
Adjustments in respect of current tax of B F HAR BV HARE T /O 3 2
previous periods 38 65
Effect of different rates for companies REMAERRBREEEIFHD
operating in other jurisdictions HRTRMENZE (77) (867)
Income not subject to tax B A A (2,933) (1,557)
Expenses not deductible for tax I kb3 4,539 3,459
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BB EHENHERR (33) (171)
Tax losses not recognised RIERA B IE B 18 1,937 2,343
Others A, 21 =
Tax charge/(credit) BERY (ER) 2,069 (365)
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12. LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
The consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of the Company
for the year ended 30 April 2009 includes a profit of approximately
US$8,663,000 (2008: loss of approximately US$362,000) which has
been dealt with in the financial statements of the Company (Note
34(b)).

13. LOSS PER SHARE
The calculation of the basic loss per share for the year is based on
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share amounts for the years ended 30 April 2009
and 2008 have not been disclosed, as the share options outstanding
during these years had an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share for these years.

The calculation of the basic loss per share is based on:

12. X AREEFAARGEER

HE_ZZAENA=1TRHILFERN  &~XAQF
BB ARGRABEREEARARVBRE
A 5 F1 498,663,000 T (Z T TN\ F : I8
#9362,000%7T) (FI5E34(b)) ©

13. BRE#E
g IR LA 5 1B T IR B A A AN A F AR
RS A B BB R 4 0 B BT 2 AR AN
FIYEE -

ARARYEREBE _ETNFR_TTNF
OA=+TRLEFENSREEHREE 1
HREZSFERATENBREHZEFE
MEREABFEEAEREEZE -

BIREREBOTERE

2009 2008
ZBENF ZETN\F
Earning/(Loss) EA(&E8)
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders RArlEBRiERSEARGERE -
of the Company, used in the basic loss per share FARFEFREAREE
calculation (US$'000) (F=1) (8.350) (12,789)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares EiEMRINEEFHEHHE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FREBITEBRINETIIE
in issue during the year used in the basic loss ARG ETREREE (TK)
per share calculation ('000) 674,995 671,925
14. RE
14. DIVIDENDS 0 Ubbenm
2009 2008
“BEAF —ETNF
US$'000 US$'000
FER FET
Interim, paid (2008: Nil) ERNFERE (ZET)N\F : &) = =
Final, proposed, of 2.2 HK cents (2008: Nil) BR R HARR B &A% @ A% 2. 2811
per ordinary share (ZZZNF : #|) 1,891 -
1,891 -

At a meeting held on 31 July 2009, the Company's directors proposed
a final dividend of 2.2 HK cents per ordinary share in respect of the
year ended 30 April 2009. This proposed dividend is not reflected as
a dividend payable in these financial statements, but will be reflected
as an appropriation of retained earnings for the year ending 30 April
2010.
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. 9% - BMEKKRE

Yacht and
Leasehold Furniture motor
improvements  and fixtures vehicles Total
HEMERE BRREE PERERSE &t
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FET T=r T=r FTET
30 April 2009 —EENFNAZTH
At 1 May 2008: RZZEZNFRA—H:
Cost (BN 2,763 5,486 669 8,918
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (1.662) (4.156) (342) (6,160)
Net carrying amount REFE 1,101 1,330 327 2,758
At 1 May 2008, net of accumulated ~ R=ZTENFRA—A
depreciation MR REHHTE 1,101 1,330 327 2,758
Additions NE 107 104 64 275
Disposals HE (53) (1) (27) (91)
Depreciation provided during the year REEEEHITE (848) (541) (71) (1,460)
Exchange realignment & H AR (21) (93) (4) (118)
At 30 April 2009, net of accumulated RA-ZZEEAFMA=1+H -
depreciation MR REHHTE 286 789 289 1,364
At 30 April 2009: RZZZNFNA=+H :
Cost A 2R 2,574 5,040 664 8,278
Accumulated depreciation 2 E (2,288) (4,251) (375) (6,914)
Net carrying amount BREFE 286 789 289 1,364
30 April 2008 —EE/\EMA=1H
At 1 May 2007: RZEZ+FHhH—H:
Cost (BN 2,470 5,003 718 8,191
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (846) (3,544) (300) (4,690)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,624 1,459 418 3,501
At 1 May 2007, net of accumulated ~ R=ZZE+ERA—A
depreciation B 2T E 1,624 1,459 418 3,501
Additions NE 386 576 28 990
Disposals HE - (37) (7) (44)
Depreciation provided during the year ZAREZREEHE (901) (699) (115) (1,715)
Exchange realignment PE i R (8) 31 3 26
At 30 April 2008, net of accumulated RA-ZZEENFMA=+H -
depreciation MR REHTE 1,101 1,330 327 2,758
At 30 April 2008: RZZZN\FWA=+H :
Cost (BN 2,763 5,486 669 8,918
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (1,662) (4,156) (342) (6,160)
Net carrying amount BREFE 1,101 1,330 327 2,758
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 6. BFEEE
Deferred Patents and License
Goodwill expenditure trademarks rights Total
HE EEMX SAREE 1SR a5t
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'o00 Us$'000 Us$'000
TExT TFEr FTERL 0 FERT O OTER
30 April 2009 —§§n$lﬁ_+5
Cost at 1 May 2008, net of accumulated RZZEZENFRA—HZ
amortisation and impairment BRAN - 0k EETHEE &
VERES 29,333 1,089 12,549 252 43,223
Amortisation provided during the year IR [ B4 1 - (1,005) - (127) (1,132)
Impairment during the year FRRE (3,000) - (10,137) - (13,137)
Exchange realignment P& 5 A - - (2,412) (53)  (2.,465)
At 30 April 2009 RZEZNFMNA=1H 26,333 84 - 72 26,489
At 30 April 2009 RZZEZAEMA=1H :
Cost ﬁxzx 34,827 3,014 71,920 354 110,115
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 251 8 MORE (8,494) (2,930) (71,920) (282) (83,626)
Net carrying amount REFE 26,333 84 = 72 26,489
30 April 2008 —EEJWIH =+H
Cost at 1 May 2007, net of accumulated R=ZEZT+tFHA—HBZ
amortisation and impairment BRAS - Nk EETEE &
B 32,266 2,093 22,828 407 57,594
Amortisation provided during the year REER Y = (1,004) = (154) (1,158)
Impairment during the year FEREE (3,000) = (10,254) = (13,254)
Exchange realignment fE & R 67 - (25) (1) 41
At 30 April 2008 RZZZN\FMNA=1H 29,333 1,089 12,549 252 43,223
At 30 April 2008: RZZEZNEFMA=1+H:
Cost DN 34,827 3,014 74,332 406 112,579
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 2518 85 MOR(E (5,494) (1,925) (61,783) (154) (69,356)
Net carrying amount REFEE 29,333 1,089 12,549 252 43,223
Impairment testing of intangible assets WS E R E AR

Intangible assets have been allocated to the following cash-generating
units, which are reportable segments, for impairment testing:

° Sales of merchandise cash-generating unit; and

° Provision of services cash-generating unit.

The recoverable amount of cash-generating unit has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a one-year period approved by senior

management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow projections
is 10% (2008: 10%).
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment testing of intangible assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of intangible assets allocated to each of the

cash-generating units is as follows:

16. B EE )
B EERERNR (8)

PREXRDREEMNELEENREELN

T

Sales of merchandise Provision of services Total
HmiHE RIERS &it
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“EEAE ZET)\E ZEERE ZZT\F ZBBEAE —TIN\E
Us$'o00 US$'000 US$'o00 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Txx TEn Txn TEx Txx TET
Goodwill RS 26,333 26,333 - 3,000 26,333 29,333
Deferred expenditure EERT - - 84 1,089 84 1,089
Patents and trademarks B REE - EE
- United Kingdom - 12,549 - - - 12,549
Licence rights - United Kingdom FETE - 2E 72 252 - = 72 252
17. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSET 17. T HESREE
Group
rEE
2009 2008
—EThE —ZZ)\F
US$'000 Us$'000
FE FET
Club membership, at fair value g% (BATE) 84 84
The fair value of the club membership is determined with reference EMEENATEDKL2EERSMHRER
to the price quoted by the relevant club. EBRE -

—PENEEH
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

18. RMIB R B 2R E

Company
KA E]

2009 2008
—EThE —ETN\F
Us$'o00 US$'000
TEnx FET
Unlisted shares, at cost R ETRRAD (RACA) 9,987 9,987
Due from subsidiaries NG e 45,799 36,945
55,786 46,932

The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
are repayable on demand or within one year. The carrying amounts
of these amounts due from subsidiaries approximate to their fair

values.

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

EEEEDFERSE -

TEMBRARFBELT :

WP B A RIRIAREER R ERAREX
N —FRERE - ZFERHE R R FAENK

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of Nominal value of the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ EAREERERDL
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
KL/ BROEBERRE/
g EMRELLE afRAHE B ME FEER
Benchmark Profits Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
RERARES (E REER
CU Packaging & Design (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
EREARES Er REER
CU Packaging & Design Limited* Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Trading of merchandise and
REBRARAR 55 WETL procurement agent
BmE 5 RIKERE
Dowry Peacock Group Limited United Kingdom (GBP300 - 60  Investment holding
5 0055 RERR
eServices (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Dormant
HRARRES (EI LEXH
eServices Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Dormant
BA 100,000/ 7 TEXHK
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18. RIB AR Z’RE )

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of Nominal value of the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ KAREERERD L

Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
KL/ BRTEBRRE

£ Ban ok ERRAEE HE mE TEEH

Ever Eagle Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
RREARES (E REZR

Golden Rules Enterprises Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 - Investment holding

BRBRAH BE 17T REZR

IGCS Group Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
REEARES (E REZR

IGCS International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Provision of social compliance
EREARKES ES services

REHEEALETAES
AR5

IGCS Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Provision of social compliance

BE 2B services
REHEEALETAES
57

Inspire World Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Dormant

ERARAA Eh 17T LEXY

International Laboratory Services Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Provision of laboratory

Limited BE BT services

AR REERAR AR IR

SO International (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Investment holding
HRARRES (EI REZR
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18. RIB AR ZIRE )

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of Nominal value of the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ KAREERERD L
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
KL/ BRTEBRRE
£ Ban ok ERRAEE HE mE TEEH
IS0 International (Holdings) Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - 100 Provision of technical support
BE 100/87T and management services,
and trading of home
lifestyle consumer electronic
products
RERMTERERRY
REEHEETERES
Linmark Agency (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$50,000 - 100 Investment holding and
REARRES 50,000 7T procurement agent
REERRFERR
Linmark Agency (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Procurement agent
BB 10,0007 RERE
Linmark Agency (Mauritius) Ltd" Republic of Mauritius US$2 - 100 Procurement agent
EERMAANE VE AR
Linmark Development (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 - 100 Procurement agent
REEARES (EM RERE
Linmark Electronics Limited** United Kingdom (GBP12,500 - 60 Design and procurement of
£ 12,50058% entertainment and
consumer electronic
products
RERHEEFERLRFTR
b
Linmark (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding and
WE (%) BRAA B 2T procurement agent
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18. RIB AR ZIRE )

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of Nominal value of the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ KAREERERD L
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
KL/ BRTEBRRE
£ Ban ok ERRAEE HE mE TEEK
Linmark International (Bangladesh) Ltd.* Bangladesh Taka20,000 - 100 Procurement agent
) 501 20,0005 K RERE
Linmark International (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100 Investment holding,
WEER (B8) BRAA Bk 200,00077C procurement agent and
trading of merchandise
REER  RERBRER
25
Linmark Merchandise Consultancy People's Republic of China  RMB1,500,000 - 100 Provision of marketing
(Shenzhen) Limited*™ FE AR#1,500,0007T consultancy and product
WEEES®ER OR) BRAF development services
RETSREERARERRE
47
Linmark (UK) Limited United Kingdom GBP100 - 100 Provision of market trend
el 1005 8% consultancy services
TRk TIR R R R
Linmark Westman Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Us$ 1 100 - Investment holding
RERRRES NEL REZR
Market Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Dormant
WEAFRAT] BB 17T EEZ
Merchandise Creative, Inc. British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Dormant
RERRRES 1% LEXY
Merchandise Creative Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Procurement agent
BB 10000/ 7C AR
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 18. AMIB AR ZRE )

104 Linmark Group Limited

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of Nominal value of the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ KAREERERD L
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
KL/ BRTEBRRE
£ Ban ok ERRAEE HE mE TEEH
Pacific Technologies Limited United Kingdom (GBP45,000 - 60 Dormant
5 45,0054 TEXH
Power Path Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Dormant
EEBRAR BB 17T TEEH
Tamarind Agency Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100 Dormant
REEARES %70 TEXH
Tamarind International Holdings British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
Limited RRARRES (EI REZR
Tamarind International Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding and
BB 187 trading of merchandise
REZREERES
Tamarind Marketing Services (Macao Macao MOP$100,000 - 100 Trading of merchandise
Commercial Offshore) Limited* R 100,000 BmES
AEET5RYE (RFEEEERS)
BRAR
Tamarind Trading (Shanghai) Limited™* People's Republic of China  RMB5,500,000 - 100 Procurement agent and
AEHES (L8) BRAR™ HE AR 5,500,007 trading of merchandise
RERBRENES
Trend Xpress (Bangladesh) Ltd.* Bangladesh Taka20,000 - 100 Provision of market trend
gl ik 20,000 F consultancy services
RIS IR S e R
Trend Xpress, Inc. British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding and
REARRES 1570 provision of market trend

annual report 2009
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18. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

18. RIB AR ZIRE )

Percentage of equity
attributable to

Place of Nominal value of the Company
incorporation/registration issued ordinary share/ FAREERERD L
Name and operations registered capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
B3 BRTEBERREK
£ SRR B EfRAEE BE EEE3 ITERK
Trend Xpress Limited Hong Kong HK$2 - 100 Investment holding, provision
B e RaA A R A Al BE 2ETT of market trend consultancy
services and trading of
merchandise
& 5? & - REmSET B
AAREREmE
Trend Xpress (S) Pte. Limited* Singapore 5$2 - 100 Provision of market trend
%K BIMETT consultancy services
RIS R e R
Westman Linmark (Thailand) Ltd. Thailand Ordinary shares - 100 Procurement agent
% Baht5,880,000 REERRE
and preference shares
Baht6,120,000
L8 5,880,000% K
B AR6,120,0005% 4k
Westman (Singapore) Private Limited Singapore $$200,000 - 100 Procurement agent
IR 20000037 KT REERE
Westown Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 - 100 Procurement agent
BHERAH BB 10000077 RERE

*

of the Ernst & Young global network.

Not audited by Ernst & Young Hong Kong or other member firm

#  CU Packaging & Design Limited was disposed of during the year

ended 30 April 2009.

ended 30 April 2009.

Linmark Agency (Mauritius) Ltd was dissolved during the year

##  Linmark Electronics Limited was put into administration in the
United Kingdom since 28 July 2009. See Note 43 to the financial

statements for details.

*¥

Linmark Merchandise Consultancy (Shenzhen) Limited and

Tamarind Trading (Shanghai) Limited are registered as wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises under the law of the People's Republic

of China.

+  Trend Xpress (S) Pte. Limited is in the process of striking-off.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year
or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give

details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive length.

##

*%

LA B AR IERB B LKA ES
Fr ek (E ] EAth %2 ok & 51 A0 B 75 AT 2 BR A8 4%
R B AT -

REBEERARENRBE —ZZNFNT
A=1TRHIFFERLE -

Linmark Agency (Mauritius) LtdEREE =
TENFMA=FHIEFERER

Linmark Electronics Limited@2 R =T N4F
tAZ TN \BETRERBEEEBAEERF °
n$ |\I$XE/\\E\7J%%¥&%MTHE43 °

MEBmIERHERD OF
FHEES (LB AR
REMAIBEELE -

J‘JH) BRRAR KR
AR TSR BDE

Trend Xpress (S) Pte. Limited B ATIETE#ETT)E
iH o

EFREIN 2 A RBMB AR NDEFTRREARF
EXEREEFEIRBNAREEEFETR
MOzHMBAR - EERA - HINHMHBER
AZFE  eSRIEBNITE -
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19. INVESTMENT

IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED

19. R—KABZHERB2RE

ENTITY
2009 2008
—EENF —ETNF
us$'ooo Us$'000
FER T3z
Unlisted investments, at cost K EMEE (RKA) = -
Share of net assets E(FEE 19 23
19 23

Particulars of the jointly-controlled entity are as follows:

HRZEHBERZFHBWT

Percentage of

FEE D
Particulars Place of
of issued incorporation/ Ownership Voting Profit  Principal
Name shares held registration interest power sharing  activities
REERTRGZ =ERRL
=L #i5 EEaitisih e REE HFIE FEXHR
CSC Consultancy Co., Ltd. Registered capital ~ People's Republic 50 50 50  Provision of business
R EAERA R of RMB1,500,000  of China information, management
HMERARE HEd consulting and social
1,500,0007C compliance services

The investment in a jointly-controlled entity is indirectly held by the

Company.
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19.

20.

INVESTMENT
ENTITY (Continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial information

of the Group's jointly-controlled entity:

IN A JOINTLY-CONTROLLED

19. R—XABZHERBZ2RE @)

T 2R [ i 7N £R B 4k R4 6 B S 2 B S B R
B ¢

2009 2008
—EThE —ZETENF
Us$'oo0 Us$'000
FER F=T
Share of the jointly-controlled entity's assets and fE{GHREIZGIEE s BENEE ¢
liabilities:
Current assets mMENE B 21 23
Non-current assets ERBEE 2 4
Current liabilities mBAE (4) (4)
Net assets FEE 19 23
Share of the jointly-controlled entity's results: EEERIRHIE S 2 245
Operating expenses ERAY (4) (45)
Loss after tax BBk E R (4) (45)

DEFERRED TAX

The movements in the Group's deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during

the year are as follows:

20. EHEFLIE
ENAEBELERELE(BE) 220
T

Deferred tax assets EEBIEEE
Accelerated/ Accelerated/
(decelerated) (decelerated)
tax tax
depreciation  depreciation Tax Tax
allowances  allowances losses losses Total Total
m&,/ g/
123 (HR)
BEm by
ERE R BEER WEER Bt A&t
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
“EThE —TT)\F ZEBANE —TT/\§ ZEERE —ITT)\F
Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TXx TET SEYH FETL TER TET
At beginning of year REA (27) (10) (1,196) - (1,223) (10)
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to FRRKEZRME /(GTA)
the income statement during the year  ZiEEH;IE
(Note 11) (BtzE1) (65) (17) 1,016 (1,215) 951 (1,232)
Exchange differences BN =% 4 - 180 19 184 19
Gross deferred tax assets at end of year RER 7 EEHIBAEEE (88) (27) - (1,196) (88) (1,223)
—TTNFFR MEEEERAR 107
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20. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 20. Eﬁﬁ.lﬁ (%®)
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIEEE
Accelerated/ Accelerated/
(decelerated)  (decelerated)
tax depreciation  tax depreciation
allowances allowances Total Total
b CRUEE)  hn& / CRliR)
RERERE DENERE |t BET
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENFE ZETNFE —EZhE —TE)N\F
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
FEn FTET FEx FEr
At beginning of year REA) 2 126 2 126
Deferred tax credited to the income FRPUREKP A ZEL
statement during the year (Note 11)  F$18 (FftzF11) - (124) - (124)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at NERZELTIES ER%E
end of year 2 2 2 2
For the purpose of the balance sheet presentation, certain deferred RABEEBBEREY  ETEEREBEEER
tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is an analysis BESTHIHE UTFNIRTBEREOELZ
of the deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting BRI IEAERDAT
purposes:
2009 2008
—EENF —EENF
us$'o00 us$'000
FEn FET
Deferred tax assets EETRIBEE (88) (1,223)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFIE A E 2 2
Net deferred tax assets recognised in KRG EEABRERZIELRIE
the consolidated balance sheet BEFE (86) (1,221)
21. INVENTORIES 21. 7€
2009 2008
—EEZAF —ET)N\F
USs$'o00 US$'000
FEx F=T
Finished goods 2URK T 2,440 13,030
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22.TRADE RECEIVABLES 22. EIRE B R

An aged analysis of the trade receivables as at the balance sheet date, LEBEZRMGE  REEHZEKE SRR Z
based on the invoice date is as follows: BREC AT
2009 2008
—gerE —TT)\F
USs$'o00 Us$'000
FExn FET
Within 30 days 30K AR 6,256 12,338
31 to 60 days 31— 60K 3,607 3,333
61 to 90 days 61 — 90K 1,624 3,831
91 to 365 days 91 — 365K 7,146 2,036
Over 1 year BiE 15 5,903 6,125
24,536 27,663
Impairment A (6,297) (6,235)
18,239 21,428
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, AEEEEFPZEZBRAEEUEEFNE
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally T HHEP—REWERENRE - 58
required. The credit period is generally 60 to 90 days. Each customer H—HR60ZEW0K - BEEFAHERSEER
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control BH o NS B HE SR 8 AR R (B 2 JE S TR TE A Bk
over its outstanding receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue BEGINEEREEERR - 8 REEREEH
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the et 8 AR U 2 BARE o B E XTI R AN K E
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade receivables relate BB SEFIRAETNRER  MIESER
to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant BEEEFRER - BKWEZEFIITEHE - &
concentration of credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest- WE ZERZ BREESEE AT ERE °

bearing. The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate to
their fair values.

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables are EWE ZERBRERGEES T -
as follows:

2009 2008
—ZEThE —ZT )\
us$'o00 Us$'000
FEx Tt
At beginning of year REFA] 6,235 6,610
Impairment losses recognised (Note 6) BEERREEE (Hizte) 964 643
Amount written off as uncollectible b E == D Cl (700) (1,021)
Exchange differences E N =X (202) 3
At end of year REF 4R 6,297 6,235
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

23.

The above provisions are for individually impaired trade receivables
which relate to customers that were in financial difficulties and only
a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

The aged analysis of the trade receivables that are not considered to
be impaired is as follows:

22. BIRE Z R (o)

b BB ERRERKE ZRREL - &
SRKEZERNREBUBREZZFPER
N IR EE A R FE MR IE - AEBHZE
BRUAFHEMERRRERELMMBEE
H it

ARBERBEZEWE 5 8RR Rk H 10
T~

2009 2008

—EZNEF —ZT)N\F

USs$'o00 US$'000

FERT FE7T

Neither past due nor impaired 37 % 38 ER SR (E 8,837 15,206
Less than 3 months past due wmEA DR =8 A 3,012 5,423
3 to 6 months past due B HI =2 758 A 3,585 341
Over 6 months past due 360 HAFR @ 7N (A A 2,805 458
18,239 21,428

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a large
number of diversified customers for whom there was no recent history
of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over these balances.

TEBRIREZEBBERBLEAETAR
P ZERXPLETME R -

EE B W AR RME < YRR — HE R A E
BERETGECHCBYUEFAR - REBEL
B ARAESRABANABEKRELRE
BE ARGEEEAZRYESAEY UKRA
ZEBHRU2ERE - AEBEHZFEKRIL AR
FAEMERG - AEEEBIGREEREE -

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23.FENFIE - RERHMEWFIE
RECEIVABLES
Group Company
AEE RAF
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ZENF —ZETNF —ETAF —TT)N\F
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000
SFEI FET SFEZI FET
Prepayments B F0E 748 2,016 = =
Rental deposits Hekse 646 583 - -
Other receivables H i et R 5,915 2,506 1 72
7,309 5,105 1 72
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23.PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 23.FAfiRE - &L HMWEWRIE

RECEIVABLES (continued) (%)
None of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial LA 8 N 8 AR B o 5T A L& sk 2 B
assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which SEEHRET RN BBGRERES -

there was no recent history of default.

24.DUE FROM A RELATED COMPANY 24. B — REAE X FRIEA
Particulars of an amount due from a related company, disclosed ,,\*E%FE,% BHEDIE161BIE T AR EE 2 FEUK
pursuant to Section 161B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, REATREHAEBOT :

are as follows:

Maximum
amount
30 April outstanding 30 April
Name 2009 during the year 2008
—EENF FRREER —ETN\F
=L mMA=+H SHELER MA=+A
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
FTERT FEx FET
DGC GmbH - 47 5
The above related company was controlled by Mr. Raymond Anthony LHBAEARBAARAMNBAR —RES
NUGENT, a director of a subsidiary of the Company, up to 16 March Raymond Anthony NUGENTE £#ZEH EE - F
2009. Thereafter, Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT ceased to have T NFE=H+75H ° b1 * Raymond Anthony
interest in DGC GmbH. NUGENTZ: 4 1 FDGC GmbHAR #E A a5
The balance with the related company was unsecured, interest-free FEWFE R R RIEREAEER 2 ERRE
and repayable on demand. KIER -
25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. RERREEEHIER
Group Company
rEE ERAFE
2009 2008 2009 2008
—BENE  ZET\F ZEEAF TT)\F
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
TEx T=r TEx TET
Cash and bank balances Re RIRTEE 23,674 13,479 2,319 145
Time deposits EHER - 3,273 - 2,122
Cash and cash equivalents BHERHEZEBE 23,674 16,752 2,319 2,267
At the balance sheet date, the cash and bank balances of the REER  AEBUARE (TARE]) 5IE
Group denominated in Renminbi ("RMB") amounted to approximately 23 & RIRTT 474 A363,000E T (ZZTE )\
US$363,000 (2008: US$452,000). RMB is not freely convertible F 1 452000%7T) c ARBEANATEREBHRAR
into other currencies. However, under the People's Republic of fib & W o AN AR AP B 2 HNE B IR R B e A
China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of & SERNEETERE  ANEEFEBER
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the BETINERREBZRITBEARBELBRAE
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through e

banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.
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25.

26.

27.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods
of between one day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the respective
short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents and the time
deposits approximate to their fair values.

TRADE PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade payables as at the balance sheet date,
based on the invoice date, is as follows:

25 RERBEEEER @

i

=3

R RIEG A RITHRA

CERTLIE

AR BRHEMERZERAR -—BE=EH
g BIAEEZABREFEME @ S
RHIE B MR RERA B - |RITETRE
HFR 07 R AT HE M0 RC 8% 2 (58 R UF R
T REMESFEREAREHNFRZIKEE

EENTERS °

26. ESEZ R

RBEZHHtE -
BRER DTN -

REHEBZENESRRZ

2009 2008

—EThE —ZTT)N\F

UsS$'o000 US$'000

TEnx FET

Within 30 days 30KIA 4,322 19,293
31 to 60 days 31— 60K 2,303 2,169
61 to 90 days 61— 90K 1,290 1,329
91 to 365 days 91 — 365K 10,598 468
Over 1 year HBiE1F 3,769 1,284
22,282 24,543

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled

on 60-day terms. The carrying amounts of trade payables approximate

ZERNEZRKTITEE - L —RIZ60KRH
RBE - BNE SRR REEREE A FER

o+
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to their fair values. H e
ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BEstEARHMENRIE
Group Company
rEE PiN/N|
2009 2008 2009 2008
—ZEENF —TEN\F —ETAF —TT)\&F
US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
ST FET FEr FET
Accrued bonuses ESei 244 1,666 - -
Accrued expenses EET=a 2,968 3,282 25 24
Licence fee payable FERHErEE R 80 424 - -
Other payables HAb e 508 8,748 5,393 - =
12,040 10,765 25 24

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term
of two months. The carrying amounts of other payables and accruals
approximate to their fair values.

annual report 2009
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28.

29.

WARRANTY PROVISION 28. RAAEE
2009 2008
—EBELE —EENF
US$'000 US$'000
FER FET
At beginning of year REFH] 9,365 2,953
Additional provision (Note 6) gHIMEAE (FifFEe) 3,903 23,600
Amounts utilised during the year FRNBALRE (10,441) (17,068)
Exchange realignment BEE 34, 3 2 (1,673) (120)
At end of year RER 1,154 9,365

The Group offers warranties on certain of its consumer electronic
products, for periods of 12 months from the date of purchase by end
customers or 15 months from the date of manufacture. The amount
of the provision for the warranties is estimated based on historical
warranty claim experiences and recent trends. The estimation basis is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and revised where appropriate.

AEERBEETREFZETETEMRRHRRF
A REBAHKRKBEEERE R RNET12@E
AR BBt 1518 A - RAEBEHZSETD
RIBEERBARELRASIRBEAEMHE -
A2 EESWBFEEET AR RN EE
fEHIERT °

INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 29. ;T ERITEE
2009 2008
“BEANE ZEEN\E
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity Us$'o00 rate (%) Maturity US$'000
ERFIE (%) ZE A Txx EBEEFE@) s S
Current - within one year or on B - AR —FEAFREREE
demand
Trust receipt bank loans - unsecured  EFEMUESRITE R — EEH N/A N/A - 7 2009 1,284
TER TER “EENE
Notes: B E
(a)  In the prior year, certain of the Group's banking facilities were secured by () E=FAEEETRITMEDUERARR—RIE
the pledge of a fixed and floating debenture over the assets of a 60%-owned 6000 1E 25 2 FT /B8 /A 7] /2 £826,270,0003 7T & E 2 [E 7E
subsidiary of the Company amounting to US$26,270,000. RFBNEHFIERER -
(b)  In the prior year, all borrowings were denominated in Sterling. (b) =T FIAEBEHYAHEESIE -

The carrying amounts of the Group's borrowings approximated to
their fair values in the prior year.

=5 AEERFREZREEREATERS -
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30. BALANCE OF CONSIDERATION PAYABLE FOR

31.

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

As at 30 April 2009 and 2008, the balance of consideration payable
of approximately US$1,149,000 represented the estimated amounts
payable for the acquisition of Dowry Peacock.

The carrying amounts of the balance of consideration payable for
acquisitions of subsidiaries approximate their fair values.

Certain portions of the consideration for the acquisition of Dowry
Peacock are subject to adjustments based on a pre-determined
formula contingent on achievement of specified target profits during
specified periods after the acquisitions. The Company's directors and
the Group's management have estimated the amounts payable as
at 30 April 2009 based on the results of Dowry Peacock stated in
its audited financial statements for the years ended 30 April 2006,
2007 and 2008.

30. BB A R 2 BN R EHE

RZEZNER_ZEZN\FLA=1+H" E
SR (B £4 BB 49 /41,149,000 7T © /4 U BEDowry
PeacockFTFE( 2 fhiET & %58 ©

WEHB AR 2 BNRESRBEIRAEREAER
FEMEE -

U E&Dowry PeacockZ & TEMHRE - €8T
Hﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁﬁiﬁﬂ A= & E 245 A B IR 1R

FEEANELHFE - X2 7§$&$El%ﬁi
[E B ZE M Dowry PeacockE = =TT /)NF -
THERZZFEZNFEOA= ‘T’E!JtEJ*Z%“i
RIS RE TS - MR 2T NEN
A=tHEMNZz&% -

POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 3. EERAKER
2009 2008
—EENF —ET)N\F
Note us$'o00 US$'000
FI TEn F=ET
Defined benefit plan EXEE A2 (a) 782 896
Other long term post-employment H b RHR 8 RINEF
benefits (b) 410 293
1,192 1,189
Notes: MIEE -

(a) Defined benefit plan
The Group operates an unfunded defined benefit plan for all its qualifying
employees in Taiwan. Under the plan, the employees are entitled to retirement
benefits at 3% of final salary on attainment of a retirement age of 55.

According to the laws and regulations in Taiwan, the Group is obliged to pay
its employees in Taiwan, upon retirement, disability or death, post-employment
benefits based on the number of years of services and final average salary. The
Group carried out an actuarial valuation as at 30 April 2009 of its obligation for
post-employment benefits payable to its employees in Taiwan.

The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined benefit
obligations were carried out at 30 April 2009 and 2008 by Hsu Mao-Chin Actuary,
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.
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(a) REEBFFE
REBREMBEEARAERE R EEENGT
g - BIFXATE - BEESSHRERFREBEZT
AR E30 2 BRIKEF

BREAEERRER  AEEAMEAEEE (T
FERIK WK G BRAEA 2B WRE &R
BRI FH R &K TFIH S ATRKRER - AEH
RZZZAFHA=THRBERRERAKENRE
HEITRZIEEMAE -

AERAAEREZLHBERBE  HR=Z
TNEFER=ZFTZT/N\FMA =+ HHHsu Mao-Chin
ActuaryiZ BRI B E BB E M EERETT




31.POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

Defined benefit plan (Continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the balance sheet date were as

follows:

31. EERNKER &

faE - ()
() TEHEEAE (F)

NEEARAZ T ERERROT :

2009 2008
—ERhEF —EEN\F
% %
Bk AL
Discount rate = 2.25 2.75
Expected rate of return on plan assets 5T 815 B 2 TaHA Bl R & 2.25 2.75
Expected rate of return on reimbursement right Bz A HE R N/AFE A N/ATE A
Expected rate of salary increases TR SRR X 1.00 2.00
Future pension increases RFBARBIERE N/AFiE A N/ATE A
The overall expected rate of return on plan assets is determined based on the HESEERTEHORXE NRENEE A EEE
market expectations prevailing as at the balance sheet date, applicable to the ARETEERE TSR mEE
period over which the obligations are to be settled.
The total expenses recognised in the consolidated income statement in respect MG NERER AP EBUT -
of the plan are as follows:
2009 2008
—EBRAF —EEN\F
US$'000 US$'000
FEn FET
Current service cost RB RIS A 41 52
Interest cost FBRA 22 26
Expected return on plan assets FrEIEE 2 TEHIE R 2) ()
Actuarial gains EE WK (5) (1
Net benefit expenses BRI FE 56 75

The Group expects to contribute US$23,000 to its defined benefit plan in 2010.

REERMAN-_Z-—ZF2AE

23,0003 7T ©
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= =
31. POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued) 31. BERKER )
Notes: (Continued) BisE - (8&)
(a) Defined benefit plan (Continued) (a) TEHEEFE (B
The movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations are as HERMNEEZIREZSHWOT -
follows:
2009 2008
—EBAEF —ETN\F
US$'000 Us$'000
FEx FET
At beginning of year REL 852 929
Current service cost A IR A A 41 52
Interest cost F B A 22 26
Actuarial gains on obligation BEEZBERE (32) (12)
Benefits paid B EF (49) (220)
Exchange difference FEH =R (91) 77
At end of year REFL 743 852
The movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: FrEIEEZ ATFEZFHNAT -
2009 2008
—EEhEF —ETN\F
US$'000 US$'000
FEx FET
At beginning of year REF] 96 61
Expected return e B [B] 5 (2) 2
Actuarial gains on obligation BEEZEEWE 5 4
Contributions by the Group ARE B 75 246
Benefits paid B EF (49) (220)
Exchange difference [EH Z5E (13) 7
At end of year RER 112 96
A reconciliation of the fair value of the plan assets and the present value of the AEIEEAFERAEENARTRERARNGSEE
defined benefit obligations to the net value of liabilities/(assets) recognised in the BEXRERZAE (BE) FHEIHERNOT :
consolidated balance sheet is as follows:
2009 2008
—EEThEF —ETN\F
US$'000 US$'000
FER FET
Fair value of plan assets FEIEEZAFE (112) (96)
Present value of defined benefit obligations AERMNEEZRE 743 852
631 756
Unrecognised net actuarial gains RERIBE WS FRE 151 140
Net liabilities arising from defined benefit AERNETELEZ AEFE
obligations 782 896
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31.POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Defined benefit plan (Continued) (a)
The defined benefit contributions in Taiwan are made to a fund administered by

the government of Taiwan. The major categories of plan assets as a percentage

of the fair value of the total plan assets of the centrally administered fund are

as follows:

31. EERNKER &

BaE : ()

EREAEE (F)

Y

2 FERAERTD

A—XARFEEZES

fEH - S EEXREREZTREEES 258
BEMRBATEZBDLNT :

2009 2008

—EBAF —ETN\EF

% %

B Epalsd

Equity instruments BRATA 1 9
Debt instruments BEEIA 12 1"
Deposits T 41 43
Others Hith 36 37

A five year summary of the present value of the defined benefit obligations, the
fair value of the plan assets, the deficit in the plan and the experience adjustment
arising on plan liabilities is as follows:

RERNEERE  AEEEATE  AEBMK
AEIREZKRABRZAFHENT

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
ZBBAE —TTN\F C"TTLFE Z—TTRF _TTHF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FTERx FE1 F= F=T FET
Present value of defined benefit REBNEERE
obligations 743 852 873 1,081 1,088
Fair value of plan assets FTEIEEATE (112) (96) (58) (32) =
Unrecognised actuarial gains REERIGE e 151 140 112 81 19
Deficit in the plan s EIEAl 782 896 927 1,130 1,107
Experience adjustment on EIBEZERARE
plan liabilities - - - - 64
Other long term post-employment benefits () HtbRHESRKER

Balance represents provision for long service payment as required by certain
jurisdictions. Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated
before the normal retirement date or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.

RERRTIIEE T RVAERMER 2 B RHARG & 2 #
o KRR INME BB ERR KA M5 - SR8
N EFRRER I E R A MR L BAR AT X

fi

—PENEEH

MELSEERAR 117



Notes to the Financial Statements
B SRS M5

32. SHARE CAPITAL

32. B

Shares &
2009 2008
—EZAF —ET)N\F
UsS$'o000 US$'000
TEn FET
Authorised: EE
2,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 2,000,000,0000% & AR E{E0.023E 7T 2
US$0.02 each B AR 40,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
674,994,644 (2008: 674,994,644) ordinary 674,994,644 (ZZZT )\ F :
shares of US$0.02 each 674,994,644 ) B% TR E{E0.023E 7T
2 &R 13,500 13,500

A summary of the transactions during the year with reference to the

R2EZLBE  ARREBTEBRARE

above movements in the Company's issued ordinary share capital is NZRSBEWT
as follows:
Share
Number of Issued premium
shares in issue capital account Total
BTROEME CEBOTRE ROZRER &5t
‘000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
T = = F=r
At 1 May 2007 R-ZZEELERA—H 670,920 13,418 20,564 33,982
Issue of shares to settle BATRR D A A e B
consideration payable for NGk R
acquisitions of subsidiaries? 4,075 82 1,068 1,150
At 30 April 2008, 1 May 2008 and R-ZENFEMA=+H
30 April 2009 “ZZ)\FAA-BK
“ETNFMA=1H 674,995 13,500 21,632 35,132
# On 27 February 2008, 4,074,635 ordinary shares of US$0.02 each of the Company # MNZZEZNF-_A-++tH KAAGUFERD

were issued at a price of approximately HK$2.284 (equivalent to US$0.29) per
share as part of the consideration for the acquisition of subsidiaries.

Share options

Details of the Company's share option scheme (“Share Option Scheme”)
are included in Note 33 to the financial statements.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution of
the then sole shareholder passed on 22 April 2002 for the primary
purpose of providing incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their
contribution or potential contribution to the Group. The Share Option
Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years up to 2012. Under
the Share Option Scheme, the Company's board of directors or a
committee thereof may grant options to eligible persons to subscribe
for shares in the Company at a price per share of at least the higher of
(i) the closing price of a share as stated in the daily quotation sheets
issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of the relevant
option; and (i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer, provided that
the exercise price shall in no event be less than the nominal amount
of one share. A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of options. The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon the exercise of all outstanding options granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other scheme to be adopted by
the Company from time to time must not in aggregate exceed 30%
of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The
Company has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase or
settle the share options in cash.

The movements in share options under the Share Option Scheme
during the year were as follows:

33. B fERT &

BRETE DR _ZEZE_FOA =+ BRIE
ERE-RRBBIRERMERA  TRAMN
ERBIMHSEBALHAEEG LR EE
EHZ B/ - BRETEK —EAR  2=F
——Fib BETF - REBRESE - AR
AESSAEZZE S RERERTAER
AT URBARRED - 8RABEEDA()
B2 P 2 B B IR BRI AR E — i
MR BRABRELSL R ARE R ZWHE  K(i)
B3P 2 & IR ER I A R BN EE
HAX B AT A A2 X B 2 By Fia s m(E (A
BRe&ER%E)  ETEEERIATEER —K
Rty 2 HE » & BB ALTRERBRER X
NREVET - RIFBEET B RARBR TR
N T EME B R R B E R ARITE 2 BRE
TTER AT ZRMNAYR  TREBEAARAFD
I B B 1T AR 2300 © ANA R EAR S IETE
BEAR B DR E B -

AN RFABRET SR T 2BREZS

2009 2008
—EBENF —ET)N\F

Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options  exercise price options
MEFHTEE BREHE NETSTRE BREHE
HKS$ per share '000 HK$ per share '000
BLTER T4 BITER T
At beginning of year REF]) 0.830 37,381 2.386 32,222
Granted during the year READZRE 0.164 20,000 0.830 40,580
Lapsed during the year RERNBERH 0.830 (3.073) 2.021 (12,662)
Cancelled during the year RERD T - - 2.369 (22,759)
At end of year NGRS 0.585 54,308 0.830 37,381
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33. BIRESTE
AR AR R B 4 R AT B IR 2 1T (B A R 1T

exercise periods and exercise prices: (& :

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following

2009

—EENF

Number of options

Exercise price* per share

Exercise period

BRESAR BRITEE" TS
'000 HK$
S V-
34,308 0.830 24 August 2008 to 23 August 2013
—EEN\FNAZTEHAE
—E—=Ff/\A=+=H
20,000 0.164 12 January 2010 to 11 January 2015
—E-TF-A+-H=E
—ET—hF—A+—H
54,308

2008

— ==

INEE

Number of options

Exercise price* per share

Exercise period

RSB SRITERE" 1T{EH
'000 HK$
T4 BT
37,381 0.830 24 August 2008 to 23 August 2013
“ERN\FENATHAE
—T-=%/\A=1=H
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in case of rights * A A TIRE AR A (AR S B 1T AT IR s B fb JB (L

or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share capital. &) B 2 1TE B {EFEEFE -
The fair value of the share options granted during the year was
approximately US$171,000 (HK$0.0668 each) (2008: US$236,000,
HK$0.0453 each).

F AR B2 AFELA171,000% 7T (B
f%0.06687%8 7t) (ZZ = J\£F : 236,000 JT °
f%0.045378 7T ) °

ez e
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted was estimated as
at the date of grant, using the Black-Scholes valuation model, taking
into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

33. B ESTE )

ERERAGEEERE, AFEFRB LR —
ARATHERX R L B BEME - Wtk
ZEBRER D 25K o TRIIREAZER
e AIER ¢

24 August 4 November
Date of grant 2007 2008

—ETEHE —EENE
i A & NA=+mWmAE +—AmA
Share price at date of grant (HK$ per share) RELEZKRE (BET) 0.83 0.14
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) MEFEGIRE (FIRET) 0.83 0.164
Expected volatility (%) FEHER & (90) 37.97 82.16
Risk-free interest rate (%) 42 [ [ K1 R (0)0) 416 1.74
Expected life of options (year) BEARAE 2 AT AR () 3.5t0 4.5 3.7 to 5.7
Dividend yield (%) 1% 8.2 (0p) 4.32 432

The expected life of the options is based on the historical data
over the past three years and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends,
which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated into the
measurement of fair value.

At the balance sheet date, the Company had 54,307,500 share options
outstanding under the Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the
remaining share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 54,307,500 additional ordinary
shares of the Company and additional share capital of approximately
US$1,086,000 and share premium of approximately US$2,985,000
(before issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company
had 54,307,500 share options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme, which represented approximately 8% of the Company's
shares in issue as at that date.

E%H%EZEEJLHEBEB*E%%@%EEZ@EE%(%

B ORURRATBEELEZITREN - RHIK
%&@%ZIDTTE“” EBAERIBE/RKBE
BE  RUKRREBRER

ERLBEREAMFEREMAANDFEZ

i

=5 o
==

REER - ANRQRAREERERT S H
RAITIE 2 B8 AR #E $£54,307,50010 ° e~ 2 8
Hﬂ& EREITHE AIRBEARARIBITZER

g B2 E B A R E 85N 1754,307,500
f% 5@ A% ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂi&ﬂﬁ{ s (B IR Bl 38 A0 4Y
1,086,000 JT } £92,985,0005 7& (RIIBE1TE
) e

REERHBRE BH - ARRAREERE

&I i i AR 1T E 2 BE Ik #E54,307,50015 * 1l
AR R ZE B BT 2 498% °
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34. RESERVES
(a) Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 56 of the financial

34. 1B
(a) *EH

AEERAERERBEFEZHRBSER
HEH 2 NMBREF6R 2R atEn

statements.
(b) Company (b) &AF
Share Capital
Share option redemption Contributed  Retained
premium reserve reserve surplus earnings Total
BiRE E41EE
R EER 3] R EBRBEH% RERA CLl
USS000  US§000  US§000  US$000  US$'000  USS'000
TET FEx FEx TEX R FET
Balance at 1 May 2007 RZET+F
hA—B&F 20,564 647 48 9,946 5,754 36,959
Loss for the year EEEE = = = = (362) (362)
Equity-settled share option PARIE {42
arrangements BREZH = 236 - - - 236
Share options lapsed/cancelled S R%R /3T
during the year it = (301) = - 301 -
Premium arising on issue =N
of shares upon acquisitions BIIRMNEEZ
of subsidiaries (Note 32) w8 (MiE32) 1,068 = = - - 1,068
Dividend paid BARE - - = = (2,154) (2,154)
Balance at 30 April 2008 R-ZBENE
MA=tR&R 21,632 582 48 9,946 3,539 35,747
Balance at 1 May 2008 RZZTNF
hA—B#&F 21,632 582 48 9,946 3,539 35,747
Profit for the year FEEH = = - - 8,663 8,663
Equity-settled share PARIE 12
option arrangements B = 7 - - - 171
Share options lapsed FRRM
during the year AR E = (413) - - 413 -
Balance at 30 April 2009 R-ZZEZENEF
WA=+H&®F 21,632 340 48 9,946 12,615 44,581
Representing: Bp
2009 final dividend proposed R =T ZAFEAH
&) = = - - 1,891 -
Others Ht - - - - 10,724 -
- = - - 12,615 =

122 Linmark Group Limited

The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the reorganisation, over the nominal value of the Company's
shares issued in exchange therefor. Under the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus account of
the Company is distributable to equity holders. However, the
Company cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or would after the payment
be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (i) the
realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium accounts.
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35.

36.

DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 5. HE—XME AT
2009
—EEhE
Note US$'000
B = FX7x
Net assets disposed of: BHECEEFE
Trade receivables FEUE 5 8RR 18
Tax recoverable AT [El 718 25
Trade payables eI & 5B (39)
Accruals and other payables FEET 2 A R HAth FE 5 508 (3)
1
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RIE ARz iz 6 102
103
Satisfied by: AT A
Cash Re 103

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect

of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows:

BHE-—FZMNBAREH RS RS FER
BZRAFESFTMT

2009
—EEREF
US$'000
FER
Cash consideration and net inflow of cash and IREREBREHE—ZRMBARIEHE RS R
cash equivalents in respect of the disposal of ~ IR&Z(EIER 2R A E%E
a subsidiary 103

NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW 36.

STATEMENT

Major non-cash transaction

The principal non-cash transaction was the disposal of assets and
liabilities in respect of the subsidiary, CU Packaging & Design Limited,
which was being disposed of during the year. The disposal of a 100%
equity interest in CU Packaging & Design Limited did not result in
any further cash flows to the Group other than a net inflow of cash
and cash equivalents of approximately US$103,000.

RERTRERME

FTEHFRERS
FEFBRERXFIR/EERFADHELHMBER
AREHGEARARGHIEERERE - R
e REEFB/IER 2R AFHE4103,000% 7T
S HERERFZE AR DR ATA = EE
REEELEEME-—FHRERE °
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37. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the balance sheet date, contingent liabilities not provided for in

the financial statements were as follows:

37

BRREE
MEHE - RIS RENEREE T RREE
T -

Group Company
iy e | FRF
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENF —TT)N\F —EEAF —TT)N\F
Us$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Us$'000
Txx TEx FTERT F=r

Guarantees given to banks in
connection with facilities

granted to:
Subsidiaries

RETUTES 2 AT
RITHEH 2 IR -

nl=pNG]

= = 32,853 62,898

As at 30 April 2009, the banking facilities granted to the subsidiaries
subject to guarantees given to the banks by the Company were
utilised to the extent of approximately US$5,484,000 (2008:

US$17,652,000).

38. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

The Group leases certain of its office premises, staff quarters, furniture

38.

and equipment under operating lease arrangements. The leases have

varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

At 30 April 2009, the Group had total future minimum lease payments

under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

R-ZZNFEMA=1+H  REAQFMET
EHZERMIBRTHB AR ZBITRED W
FH #95,484,000% 7T (ZZZ )\ 4 : 17,652,000%
JT) °

REHERS

AEERBEKEHERFMEEE THAEE

fi - BIES BMAERRE mEHEZH
5 BEESZERREOENEFTR -

R-ZFEZNFMA=+H  AEERERATE
HEEHER T RSB 2 R RFERE
FIEMT :

Office premises Furniture and

and staff quarters equipment

WAZEBENVREIES NS
2009 2008 2009 2008
—EENE ZETN\F —EZhE —TT)N\EF
US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
FEn FET TEx FEIL
Within one year —FR 1,506 987 140 165
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E-Z2FRHF (BEHEME) 2,047 696 218 355
After five years FFEE 32 17 - =
3,585 1,800 358 520

At the balance sheet date, the Company had no operating lease

arrangements.
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39.

40.

COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in Note 38
above, the Group had the following capital commitments for the

39. I

B £ P RE3sp il 2 &R & T EAHESN

IATH

AEERGERHBENE  BEARBZE

acquisition of property, plant and equipment at the balance sheet ARAIE
date:
2009 2008
—EZNEF —ZETEN\F
USs$'o00 Us$'000
FER FET
Contracted, but not provided for EEFOIEES Y = 27
Authorised, but not contracted for EAZEBEKRETL 98 7
At the balance sheet date, the Company did not have any capital REE R » AN R EEA ] & REE -
commitments.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. FBREALIRS

(a) In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following material

() BRAMBHREEMIBOAEZRXZIN K
SEFNEEMEALETATEARR

transactions with related parties during the year: 5
2009 2008
—EEhEF —ZTN\F
Name of related parties Nature of transactions Note us$'oo0 Us$'000
EREALER THME k3 FTER FETT
Sky Fame Group Limited Rental expense (i) 128 128
HEEEFR AT HEMZ
Ken Ball Limited Rental expense (i1) 208 135
AR QA e
Raymond Anthony NUGENT Rental expense (iii) 39 47
Gizheal b3
DGC GmbH Royalty income (iv) 62 95
HAEWA
DGC GmbH Inspection income (iv) 54 37
mE YA
Vigor International (H.K.) Limited Commission income (v) 43 =

LR (FE) BRAR BEUA

—PENEEH
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a) (Continued)
Notes:

(i) Sky Fame Group Limited is 100% owned by Mr. WANG Lu Yen, a director
of the Company, and his spouse. The rental expense is determined based
on the market rate and floor area.

(ii) Ken Ball Limited is 100% owned by Mr. Peter Loris SOLOMON, a former
director of the Company. Rental expense is determined based on the market
rate and floor area.

(iii) ~ Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT is a director and a holder of 30% interest
of Dowry Peacock, a 60% owned subsidiary of the Company.

(iv)  DGC GmbH was 64% owned by Mr. Raymond Anthony NUGENT, a director of
Dowry Peacock which is a 60% owned subsidiary of the Company, up to 16
March 2009. Thereafter, Mr. Nugent ceased to have interest in DGC GmbH.
The royalty income is received in accordance with the terms of agreement
made between the parties. The inspection income is determined based on
the rate agreed by both parties.

(v) Vigor International (H.K.) Limited is 100% owned by Roly International
Holdings Ltd., which is a controlling shareholder of the Company. The
commission income is received based on the terms of agreement made
between the parties.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:
Details of the Group's balances with its jointly-controlled entity
and related company as at the balance sheet date are disclosed

in Notes 19 and 24 to the financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:

40. BEEEALTRG &
(a) (#&)

(b)

(c)

Wi

() HEEEFRARSBERESE (KQF
EFX) REZEFREBAZAR - HEMX
T2EMTERE MEAEEETE

(i) FERER AR A—EBA R R A E BPeter
Loris SOLOMONSE 2 E#HAB 2 A 6] - FHEH
S 2EMERS REAEEEE °

(i) Raymond Authony NUGENTZC4E ADowry Peacock
(RRARHEA0NEZ ZMBAR) 2EZR
A H300E =R A ©

(ivy  DGC GmbHEElRaymond Anthony NUGENT%E 4
(A2 Ak 60004 25 2 Ffi B8 2 ElDowry Peacock
ZER) SAMEREE _TTNF=A
+75B ° & + NugentsE £ R ERDGC GmbH
PR R o BABRARIBIINFFILZ
19 IR FRUCER © A E W ARIERE T 5 7E 2 K
BRETE -

V)  EREER(FE) ERIE/ARRZERE

RERBERZERERARNLEEAR 2R
2 RARRIRE J5 5] S22 19h sk IR URER o

HEBEATZRAREELR
AEBREEHRE ERIETEE &G
BALTZESEGFHBRYBHRENE19
K24 155 o

REETEEBABZEHMH :

2009 2008

ZEBEAF ZETNF

US$'000 US$'000

FERT FET

Short term employee benefits %EEWEE?E?‘J 1,388 1,155

Post-employment benefits RINEHN — EREHHKETE

- defined contribution plans 51 78

Share-based payments LARRAD B B R4S 3R 76 80
Total compensation paid to XNTEETEAS 2 H AR

key management personnel 1,515 1,313

Further details of directors' emoluments are included in Note 9
to the financial statements.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

instruments as at the balance sheet date are as follows:

41. 2T EER
SERSRTANGEAZEEENT -

Group AEH
Financial assets TREE
Loans and Available-for-sale
receivables financial asset Total
ERREYFE HESRHEE &t
2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Note —BBAF ZTT/\E ZZBThE —ZTT\E ZBBAF —TI)\%§

FirsE US$'000

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000

S TEn TEn TEL S T
Available-for-sale financial asset ~ AJ{tHESREE 17 - - 84 84 84 84
Trade receivables BB 58 2 18,239 21,428 - - 18,239 21428
Financial assets included in STABMNRE  kER
prepayments, deposits Hit IR L
and other receivables SREE 23 6,561 3,089 = - 6,561 3,089
Due from a related company EU—FBERRZTE 4 - 5 - - - 5
Cash and cash equivalents e hReFEER 25 23,674 16,752 - - 23,674 16,752
48,474 41,274 84 84 48,558 41,358
Financial liabilities EHER
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBERAIRZEREE
2009 2008
—EThE —EENF
Note Us$'o00 US$'000
ihE=s FEx FET
Trade payables ENE SRR 26 22,282 24,543
Financial liabilities included in accruals T AERT B A & E A e
and other payables REZEMBE 27 8,828 5817
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEERITIER 29 - 1,284
Dividend payable to a minority shareholder R —RM B A R D8RR
of a subsidiary 2B 742 1,030
31,852 32,674
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41.FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. @ T AR

(Continued)
Company b /N
Financial assets THEE
Loans and receivables
ERREWRIE
2009 2008
—EThE —ZETENF
Note Us$'oo0 US$'000
M =E FEx FEx
Financial assets included in prepayments, SFATENFUIE - e K
deposits and other receivables HEabfEWRTE Y & B E E 23 1 72
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEFMEEE 25 2,319 2,267
2,320 2,339
As at the balance sheet date, the Company did not have any financial REER  AARTETIAESHMEE -
liability.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank borrowings, and cash and short term deposits. The main purpose
of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group's
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities
such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

It is, and has been, throughout the year under review, the Group's
policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are
interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates
relates primarily to the Group's short term interest-bearing bank
deposits and borrowings with a floating interest rate.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate swaps to hedge its
exposure to interest rate risks.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's loss before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings) and interest-bearing bank deposits and the
Group's equity.

42. I EREEREREEK

AEENETESRMIEBREFERITEENR
RAelERFER ZFERTENTIZEANTY
RAEBNEBREEES - ASETARRE
eMEENEE  WEEHAESEESEES
HE K E IR R RN B B -

782 B 60 B A A O B R 4 2 B R 1 R AT
FASRIARS -

AEENSETAMELNEERARSNEE
@ SNERER  EERREABESAR - E
ZERAABETERRERERBOEE - &
BT o

F) 2= @By
AREBAZNTSNXEEHER T ERAREE
BN B RRITERREERR

ARE B AT AR R i B A 49 LA R I K
[\ o

THRAUAEFALCERRETEOERT -
AEEMBRBARGE (BEETRAEENY
®) T RBITERRAREOEEEFIES
BB -

=]

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in in loss (decrease)
basis points before tax in equity®
EHEiEm BR B A58 M
Om4)  #im, OEd) CR2) *
US$'000 Us$'000
FET FET
2009 —EEhF
Hong Kong dollar BT 50 (119) 119
Hong Kong dollar AT (50) 119 (119)
2008 T )N\F
Hong Kong dollar BT 50 (79) 79
Hong Kong dollar B IT (50) 79 (79)

*

Excluding retained earnings

* TEEREER
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42.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 42. i EMREEEEREE @

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Company's functional currency is the United States dollar and the
functional currencies of the majority of the subsidiaries are the United
States dollar, Hong Kong dollar or Sterling. The Group's transactions,
trade receivables and trade payables are mainly denominated in these
three currencies.

As the exchange rate of the United States dollar and Hong Kong
dollar is pegged, management considers the foreign exchange risk in
this respect is not significant. The Group has certain investments in
foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency
translation risk. However, as the net foreign exchange exposure of
the foreign operations is not significant, the Group does not actively
hedge this foreign exchange exposure.

The Group periodically reviews monetary assets and liabilities held in
currencies other than the United States dollar and Hong Kong dollar
to ensure that net exposure is kept at an acceptable level, and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties.
[t is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition,
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the
Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, and due from a related
party, arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit
risk are managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region
and by industry sector. At the balance sheet date, the Group has
certain concentration of credit risk on the Group's trade receivables,
as the amounts due from the five largest debtors amounted to
approximately US$6,061,000 (2008: US$11,077,000), representing
33.2% (2008: 51.7%) of the Group's trade receivables. In order to
minimise the credit risk, management continuously monitors the
level of exposure to ensure that follow-up actions are taken promptly
to reduce the risk exposure or to recover overdue balances. The
Group will also continuously exploit new opportunities and forge
relationships with new customers with the aim of broadening its
clientele.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to credit
risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in Note 22 to the
financial statements.
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42. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of banking facilities.

42. BEEBREREBEERBE @

REE SRR

AEEME R

R E T M A RTT

FE HE®

FEMEREERE MBS TE -

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the BEASAENTENROMTOAEERNEEHR
balance sheet date, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, SRHAEINHBRET
was as follows:
Within one year
—FR
Group Company
N | AT
2009 2008 2009 2008
ZEBENF —ETN\EF —EEZhEF —ETNE
US$'000 US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000
TERx T=r TEx FET
Trade payables R E SRR 22,282 24,543 - -
Financial liabilities included in FTAMERTE B R HEA
accruals and other payables ERZEzeREE 8,828 5817 - =
Interest-bearing bank borrowings STRBRITEE - 1,284 - -
Dividend payable to a minority R —KME QR E
shareholder of a subsidiary AR E RS A PR B 742 1,030 - -
31,852 32,674 - -
Capital management EXEE

The primary objective of the Group's capital management is to
safequard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and to
maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and
maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it, in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 30 April 2009 and 30 April
2008.

AEBERNEENTERBERERAEB R
BLBERERRRENERNLE  UAXHEER

NEE

BRERREE-

HRFRIRE Z RS

“EEAFMASTAR
= AL AE -

—ETNFEFHR MES

RBEGEERRE S ERELEARBE LY
HITHE - BREBRBRESTRM - FEE
Az - ARFERA S
BATHIA - EBAKNER  BRREFH
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42.

43.

44,

132 Linmark Group Limited

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt

42.

BHREREERERBE @

BARERE (4)
AEEFNAEEAELERERER  EEBE
8

divided by total capital. Total debt includes interest-bearing bank LR AEEATER AR R EEE - EHAEDE
borrowings. Capital includes total equity of the Company. The gearing B ITEE BABEAARIEIETE RN
ratios as at the balance sheet dates were as follows: HEHNEEBGBLERNT :
Group rEE
2009 2008
—EEREF —ZETENF
Us$'o000 US$'000
SEES FEx
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SHRIRITEE = 1,284
Total capital BNA%R 39,002 52,518
Gearing ratio EEAGBLX - 0.02
EVENT AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 43. EEHEEE
On 28 July 2009, Linmark Electronics Limited ("LEL"), a company REZZFEZNFLA=+/\B  REBEFMA
incorporated in the United Kingdom ("UK") and a 60% subsidiary of S N AN R B B 60%HE &= 2 MY B A Fllinmark

the Company, filed a notice of appointment of administrators in the
UK, pursuant to which joint administrators ("Administrators") of LEL
("Appointment”) have been appointed pursuant to paragraph 22 of
Schedule B1 to the Insolvency Act 1986 of the UK. The Appointment
brings into effect a statutory moratorium which prevents any
action by the creditors of LEL, so that the Administrators can
effect the reorganisation of LEL and/or the orderly realisation of its
assets for the benefit of creditors. Upon the Appointment, the legal
control of business of LEL transfers from the directors of LEL to the
Administrators. Since then, the Company has lost control over the
financial and operating policies of LEL and therefore, the financial
results of LEL will cease to be consolidated with those of the Group
upon the Appointment.

For the year ended 30 April 2009, LEL contributed revenues of
approximately US$63,318,000 and net loss of approximately
US$14,205,000 to the Group. At the balance sheet date, the total
assets and total liabilities of LEL included in the consolidated balance
sheet of the Group amounted to approximately US$13,269,000 and
US$16,169,000, respectively.

The Group's investment cost relating to LEL has been fully written off
and, following the Appointment, the Group ceased to consolidate the
financial results of LEL. As a result, it is expected that LEL will not
have a further material adverse impact on the net operating results
of the Group.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by
the board of directors on 31 July 2009.
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Electronics Limited ([LEL]) FEZRBE{EH ZEE
A ZBEIFE - BIRE R 19865 5 82 E M =BT
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([ZBZRME]) - ZBEZEFE—BEEREHE
VAR » ZRIFLELZ (B A B ERDERITED

INEREERABMELELE SERFHEERLE
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LFLEB 2 ARG BRI EEEREE R
A Bt ARARIREEH LB RGEBK 2
THlRE - Bt LFLZ IS EERZBE TR
TERAEAREEZHIEEET -

RBE_ZTEZAFHA=THILEFE LKL
A 7K & B %5 3R 963,318,000 T W 2 K 49
14,205,000 7T 2 5 518 - REE B © LELBE
EASENGCEERBRPZEERERE
1& 4818 5 Bl & #913,269,0003% 7T 5 16,169,0003

JG °©

REEFLELZ REKAE 2 EUMH RN ZIBE
& AEBTSHFEELELZ MIFEE - Btk -
BHEHAKREZEEXEFRBTEE—F
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5-Year Financial Summary

AFHMBEHE

Results E4
For the year ended 30 April
BENA=THILEE
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
“TRERF ZTERF TS +F T \F ZBENF
Us$'000 US$'o00 Us$'o00 Us$'o00  US$'000
FET FET FET FET FEx
Revenue Was 89,837 288,322 383,583 289,707 195,762
Cost of sales SHEKAR (41,513)  (229,923) (329,897)  (260,109) (159,823)
Gross profit E7 48,324 58,399 53,686 29,598 35,939
Other income H A 1,122 1,787 2,593 2,594 1,846
General and administrative expenses — B RITHRAY (35112)  (50,521)  (45925)  (39,855) (33,309)
Restructuring costs BHEER - - - - (1,719)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE - - (2,494) (3,000) (3,000)
Impairment loss on purchase EEELE
consideration recoverable HEEE - - (5,699) = =
Impairment loss on patents BN R EIRRE
and trademarks Eia - - (51,529) (10,254) (10,137)
Write-back of purchase e BB
consideration payable B [a] - - 21,469 - -
Excess of interest in fair value of RBEAKBRAREERE
acquired subsidiaries' net assets NEEBERRESBAM A
over cost s - 3,397 - - -
Gain on disposal/dissolution HeE REHBARZ
of subsidiaries W25 13 - - - 102
Operating profit/(loss) mERN (EE) 14,347 13062  (27,899)  (20917) (10,278)
Interest income FLEHA 1,321 814 905 598 149
Finance costs IS8 A (22) (549) (1,164) (418) (52)
Share of loss of a jointly-controlled entity fE{§—RERIEEIEE 2 2 (12) (49) (53) (45) (4)
Profit/(loss) before income tax BRETER AR (EE) 15,634 13,278 (28,211)  (20782)  (10,185)
Income tax (expense)/credit FTisH: (), #30 (880) (2,763) (2,659) 365 (2,069)
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEMN (FHE) 14,754 10515  (30,870)  (20417) (12.254)
Attributable to: AR &AM -
Equity holders of the Company RRAIERREA 14,754 10,444  (11,062)  (12789)  (8,350)
Minority interest DER R R - 71 (19,808) (7,628)  (3,904)
14,754 10515 (30,870)  (20417) (12,254)
Dividends [85) 6,216 4,829 3,679 - 1,891
Earnings per share FREH
(US cents) (L)
Basic HA 23 16 (1.7) (1.9) (1.2)
Diluted e 2.2 1.6 (1.7) NJATER NJA REA
—TTNFFR MEEEERAR 133



5-Year Financial Summary

TEMBHE

Assets and liabilities BEREE

As at 30 April

REA=1+H
2005 2006 2007 2008 2009
“ETRHE —TERF —T5+F ZTT)/\F ZEBhE
US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000  US$'000
F=Er FEr FET FET FExx
Non-current assets ETBEE 48,832 116,855 61,246 47,309 28,042
Current assets RENEE 51,395 92,610 78,677 56,320 51,662
Total assets BEHAE 100,227 209,465 139,923 103,629 79,704
Current liabilities mBEE (25947) (85,799) (62,991) (49,922) (39,510)
Non-current liabilities EREAERE (8,961)  (18,889) (2,627) (1,189)  (1,192)
Total liabilities B &8 (34,908) (104,688) (65,618)  (51,111) (40,702)
Net assets BEFE 65,319 104,777 74,305 52,518 39,002
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Corporate Information
NAIEF

Executive directors

WANG Lu Yen (Chairman)

Michel BOURLON (Chief Executive Officer)
KHOO Kim Cheng

Non-executive directors
WONG Wai Ming
Mark HSU

Independent non-executive directors
WANG Arthur Minshiang

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Audit committee

TSE Hau Yin, Aloysius (Chairman of the Committee)
WANG Arthur Minshiang

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

Company secretary
CHEUNG Hoi Yin, Brenda

Registered office
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Head office and principal place of business
1123, Hongkong International Trade & Exhibition Centre,

1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Principal share registrar and transfer office

The Bank of Bermuda Limited
The Bank of Bermuda Building,
6 Front Street,

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer

office

Tricor Standard Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Auditors

Ernst & Young

18/F, Two International Finance Centre,
8 Finance Street,

Central, Hong Kong

HITESE

T8 (£E)

Michel BOURLON (77Ec#8%t)
(HEHES

FHTES
e L

R

BYEHITES

T &xf

HEDT

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

EREES

WENT (FEEEF/E)

F B

Jakob Jacobus Koert TULLENERS

DREWE
i

AR EE

Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

HIMERE R T EE XM,
EBNENRERETE K
B EREF 0 1123F

RABFETRERE
The Bank of Bermuda Limited
The Bank of Bermuda Building,
6 Front Street,

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda

BROBFECEEES R

BEZEBR AR
BB BT 2R ANER285R
S IEEAF 02612

A

LK BRI E AT
BEEFIR

& BT8R

BIpR & mh L — #1878

—ETNFFHR MEREERAAF 135



Corporate Information
NEIER

Principal bankers

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Level 10, HSBC Main Building,

1 Queen's Road Central, Hong Kong

Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited
13th Floor, Standard Chartered Bank Building,
4-4A Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong

Citibank, N.A.

48th Floor, Citibank Tower, Citibank Plaza,
3 Garden Road, Central, Hong Kong
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Shareholder Information

RREH

Listing Listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since
10 May 2002

Stock Code ;915

Board Lot . 2,000

Par Value . US$0.02

Trading Currency : HK$

Financial calendar 2009
Financial year ended

Full year results announced
Ex-dividend date for final dividend
Register of members closed

Annual general meeting

Record date for final dividend
Despatch of dividend warrants
Interim results to be announced

*

subject to change

Final dividend

30 April 2009
31 July 2009

7 September 2009
9-11 September 2009

11 September 2009

11 September 2009

on or about 17 September 2009
mid of December 2009*

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of 2.2 HK cents per
share in respect of the year ended 30 April 2009. Subject to shareholders'
approval, the final dividend will be paid in cash to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on Friday, 11

September 20009.

Dividend warrants will be despatched to shareholders on or about Thursday,

17 September 2009.

In order to determine the entitlements to the final dividend in respect of
the year ended 30 April 2009, the register of members will be closed from
Wednesday, 9 September 2009 to Friday, 11 September 2009, both days
inclusive. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar not later

than 4.30 p.m. on Tuesday, 8 September 2009.

Shareholder services

For enquiries about share transfer and registration, please contact the

Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar:

Tricor Standard Limited

26th Floor, Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2980 1768

Facsimile: (852) 2528 3158

Holders of the Company's shares should notify the Hong Kong branch share

registrar promptly of any change of addresses.

Investor relations

For enquiries relating to investor relations, please contact:

Linmark Group Limited

1123, Hongkong International Trade & Exhibition Centre,
1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 2753 7373

Facsimile: (852) 2721 6554

Email: ir@linmark.com
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Linmark Group Limited

MEEERRAT"

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(REREIMALZARDT)

1123, Hongkong International Trade & Exhibition Centre
1 Trademart Drive, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
BEENENEEREE—FBBERERONZE

Tel 5% © (852) 2753 7373
Fax {8 E : (852) 2721 6554
http://www.linmark.com

*For identification purpose only {34 5l
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